
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
w w w . l i n c o l n s h i r e i l . g o v  

AGENDA 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD MEETING 

Public Meeting Room, Village Hall 
Thursday, October 17, 2019 

7:00 p.m. 

Reasonable accommodations or auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to effectively 
participate in any public meetings. Please contact the Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance 
if you need any special services or accommodations. The Architectural Review Board will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. 
unless a motion is made and approved by a majority of the Architectural Review Board members to extend the meeting 
one-half hour to 11:00 p.m. Any agenda items or other business that are not addressed within this time frame will be 
continued to the next regularly scheduled Architectural Review Board Meeting.  

CALL TO ORDER 

1.0 ROLL CALL 

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Approval of the Minutes of the Architectural Review Board Meeting Held on 
Tuesday, September 24, 2019 

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 

3.1 Consideration of a Roof-Mounted Solar Panel Installation for 444 Social Luxury 
Apartments – 444 and 446 Parkway Drive (Smash Residential Chicago)    

3.2 Consideration and Approval of Ground Identification Sign Structural Modifications 
– 575 Bond Street (Ravinia Plumbing)

3.3 Public Hearing regarding an Amendment to Title 12 (Sign Control) of the 
Lincolnshire Village Code to Permit, and Develop Regulations for, Manual and 
Electronic Menu Boards for Food Establishments with a Drive-Through (Keyser 
Industries/McDonald’s) 

4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
5.0 NEW BUSINESS 
6.0 CITIZEN COMMENTS 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

1 

UNAPPROVED Minutes of the regularly scheduled ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 
held on Tuesday, September 24, 2019 in the Public Meeting Room of the 
Village Hall, One Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL 

PRESENT: Chair Kennerley, Members Baskin, Tapia, McCall, Santosuosso, and 
Killedar. Member McCall arrived at 7:07 p.m. 

ABSENT: Member Orzeske and Trustee-Liaison Hancock 

ALSO PRESENT: Tonya Zozulya, Planning and Development Manager (PDM) 

CALL TO ORDER 

1.0 ROLL CALL 

PDM Zozulya called the roll and declared a quorum to be present. 

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Approval of the minutes of the Architectural Review Board meeting held on 
Tuesday, August 20, 2019. Chair Kennerley entertained a motion for approval. 

Member Baskin noted the following amendment to the minutes: page 4, 
paragraph 4 “adding the pergola design be more modern and suggested to look 
to the Chicago Botanical Garden for design inspiration”. 

Member Baskin moved, seconded by Member Santosuosso, to approve the 
minutes as amended for the Tuesday, August 20, 2019 Architectural Review 
Board Meeting. 

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 

3.1  Public Hearing regarding Sign Code Variations for Directional Signs – 1-3 
Stevenson Drive (Adlai E. Stevenson School District 125). 

Chair Kennerley recessed the Architectural Review Board (ARB) meeting, 
convened the public hearing, and reviewed the procedures and process for the 
public hearing. 

Sean Carney, Assistant Superintendent for Business, Adlai E. Stevenson High 
School District 125, presented the plans for the directional and parking lot 
designation signs for Stevenson High School. He stated the purpose of the new 
signs will be to assist students, vendors, and visitors in navigating the campus. 
School District 125’s plan is to replace 17 existing wood signs with 18 new 
aluminum directional signs. Mr. Carney noted the current wooden signs are 
showing their age as they were installed approximately 20 years ago, are difficult 
to read, and in some cases display incorrect information. He presented multiple 



 
 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  
 

2 
 

site plans of the campus indicating location of the proposed signs. He noted the 
new signs will include the revised school logo and colors to reflect current 
branding. Samples of the signs were presented for viewing. He further stated the 
new signs will not be illuminated. 
 
Chair Kennerley asked the petitioner if he would like to have the Findings of 
Fact entered into the Record. Mr. Carney replied yes.  
 
PDM Zozulya stated the Village Board supported the petitioner’s plans prior to 
tonight’s public hearing. She added a public hearing notice was published in the 
Daily Herald and the petitioner notified the adjacent property owners as required. 
Staff received five phone calls in regards to the petition. In regards to the 
variations requested, PDM Zozulya presented a chart indicating code 
requirements compared to what the petitioner is requesting. She noted the 
existing and proposed signs are similar in size and height. She further clarified 
the recommendation and approval process. 
 
Chair Kennerley asked if any members of the Architectural Review Board had 
any questions or comments. Member McCall asked about reflective coating for 
nighttime visibility. Mr. Carney noted the signs will not have reflective coating; 
however, the proposed colors will show well and will be visible based on field 
tests.  
 
Member Baskin commented on the good quality of the presentation and inquired 
about color selection and the proposed cantilevered pylon directional signs, 
asking why this style was not incorporated into the parking lot designation signs. 
Mr. Carney replied they did consider this style for the parking lot signs but the 
design team felt this was not a favorable look for the parking lots. Member 
Baskin commented on security and signage, and asked if the petitioner thought 
about how much information the signs were communicating. Mr. Carney stated 
there are numerous security safeguards in place at the school. 
 
Chair Kennerley commented on the grey tones and the difficulty reading the 
gold “Stevenson High School” lettering on the grey pylon signs, suggesting grey 
tone lettering and consistent gold colors on all signs. Member Tapia concurred 
and commenting the additional SHS identification lettering on the sign is not 
needed. He further stated his approval of the modern look of the signs. 
 
Chair Kennerley opened the floor to the public. 
 
Jeanne Moldenhaven, 16100 W Port Clinton, was sworn in. She suggested the 
directional arrow on the signs be larger or a different color for greater visibility.  
 
Rick Dittmen, 16050 Port Clinton Road, was sworn in. He inquired about the 
size of the signs on Port Clinton Road. Mr. Carney stated the proposed signs will 
be on the campus property and showed a sample of the sign. Mr. Dittmen stated 
as part of the Port Clinton/Stevenson Drive reconfiguration, some resident’s 



 
 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  
 

3 
 

driveways have not been constructed or restored properly. Mr. Carney stated he 
will contact Mr. Dittmen after the meeting. 
 
Chair Kennerley asked the board if they have any other questions or comments. 
There being for further comments or questions, Chair Kennerley closed the 
public hearing. 
 
Member Baskin moved, seconded by Member Santosuosso, having 
conducted and concluded a Public Hearing on September 24, 2019, the 
Architectural Review Board recommends variations to Title 12, Sign Control, of 
the Lincolnshire Village Code regarding directional signs on the Adlai E. 
Stevenson High School property at 1-3 Stevenson Drive, as presented in the 
presentation packet dated September 9, 2019 and further subject to the following 
considerations: 
• Change the gold color of the “Stevenson High School” message  to a grey 

color; 
• Increase the scale and size of the directional arrow on the sign copy;  
• Redesign the directional “parking” signs to the same design as the other 

proposed directional signs with a projecting sign panel; and 
• Provide consistency of gold color specifications throughout all signs. 

 
 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes: Tapia, McCall, Killedar, Baskin, Santosuosso, and Kennerley 
 Nayes: None 
 
 Motion passed.  

 
3.2 Consideration and Approval of a New Ground Identification Sign at 16139 Port 

Clinton Road (Adlai E. Stevenson High School District 125). 
 
 Sean Carney, Assistant Superintendent for Business, Adlai E. Stevenson High 

School District 125, presented plans for a ground identification sign at the 
transition house at 16139 Port Clinton Road. He discussed the role of the 
transition house in the special education program for their students. The site is in 
need of an identification sign as parents and bus drivers have expressed difficulty 
locating the building. Mr. Carney presented a site plan identifying the location of 
the proposed sign. He indicated the proposed sign includes a double-post, 
double-sided design with the Stevenson logo and “Transition House” on the sign.  

 
 Chair Kennerley noted the logo on the plan is not consistent with other signage 

for the campus. Mr. Carney stated the color for the proposed ground sign will 
match other signs planned for the campus, adding the photo presented tonight is 
not a good sample for the ARB to review. 

 
PDM Zozulya stated the review of this ground sign is under the purview of the 
Architectural Review Board and will not require approval by the Village Board. 
She added the landscape plan for the base of the sign as proposed meets Village 
code regarding the landscape bed size. She further noted School District 125 



 
 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  
 

4 
 

intends to add evergreen shrubs, annual flowers, and mulch. Staff recommends 
the plantings be installed either this year or next spring. 
 
Chair Kennerley stated there is an issue of consistency with this sign. Member 
Baskin also noted the lack of consistency, adding he could not approve it at 
presented. Member Tapia noted inconsistencies with the font. Member 
Santosuosso stated the transition house should incorporate the cantilever 
design. Mr. Carney stated he would go back to the sign company for design 
revisions to incorporate the comments and ideas from the ARB. He added the 
district is cognizant of the location of this building being in a residential district, so 
they considering potential impacts to their neighbors as well. 
 
Member Baskin stated the landscape should complement the sign, and directed 
the petitioner to consider other low-spreading evergreens and tier down with other 
plant materials. 
 
PDM Zozulya noted the next ARB meeting is scheduled for October 17th. Mr. 
Carney stated he will work with the sign company to provide revised sign and 
landscape plans. 
 
Member Baskin moved, seconded by Member Killedar, to continue the 
transition house ground sign review to the next ARB meeting with the 
recommendation to come back with a consistent sign package to include a vertical 
sign design consistent with the directional signs, as well as landscaping which will 
enhance the design of the sign. 
 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 

4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

There was no unfinished business. 

5.0 NEW BUSINESS 

There was no new business. 

6.0 CITIZENS COMMENTS 

There were no citizen comments. 

7.0 ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business, Chairman Kennerley requested an adjournment, to 
which Member Baskin made a motion and Member Killedar seconded. The meeting 
adjourned at 8:07 p.m. 

     
Respectfully Submitted, 
Carol Lustig Administrative Assistant, Community & Economic Development Department 



 

Agenda Item 
3.1 ARB  

 
 REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Architectural Review Board 
October 17, 2019 

 
Subject:  Solar Panel Installation 444 Social Luxury Apartments – 444 and 

446 Parkway Drive  
 

Action Requested: Consideration of a Roof-Mounted Solar Panel Installation for 444 
Social Luxury Apartments     
 

Petitioner:  Smash Residential Chicago  
 

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager  
Mike Jesse, Building Official  
 

Advisory Board Review: Architectural Review Board 
 

 
Background: 
• Smash Residential Chicago, the petitioner and owner of the 444 Social Luxury Apartment 

complex (444 Social), seeks to install roof-mounted solar panels on two buildings at 444 and 
446 Parkway Drive. The property is highlighted in yellow on Figure 1 and attached location 
map.  
 

• The 8-acre property is part of the 46.5-
acre CityPark Center, located at the 
southwest corner of Milwaukee 
Avenue and Aptakisic Road. It is 
located in the southwestern portion of 
the Center, directly south of Regal 
Cinemas. The property is accessible 
via Parkway Drive from Aptakisic 
Road and Milwaukee Avenue. In 
1996, the property received rezoning 
from R1 Single-Family Residence to 
B2 General Business and Final 
Planned Unit Development approvals 
(Ordinance #96-1453-37).  
 

• In 2016, the Village Board approved 
the Final Plat of Resubdivision and 
Final Development Plan for the 444 
Social development (Ordinance #16-
3415-142). Both buildings completed 
construction in 2019 and have 
received their first tenants.       

 

Figure 1: Location Map 



 

Agenda Item 
3.1 ARB  

 
• This is the second solar proposal received by the Village in a commercial zoning district. The 

first project was approved in April 2019 for Extra Space Storage located at 200 Parkway Drive, 
CityPark Center (east of 444 Social Luxury Apartment complex).  
 

• In August 2019, the Village Board directed staff to proceed with completing an application to 
enroll in SolSmart. SolSmart is a nationally-designated program funded by the U.S. 
Department of Energy, operating in partnership with the International City/County 
Management Association and the Solar Foundation. The SolSmart program awards ratings of 
bronze, silver, or gold to communities who demonstrate a commitment to be “open for solar 
business.” Staff is confident a bronze rating is achievable with existing Village codes and 
processes. In light of the Village’s participation in SolSmart, as well as broader trends and 
interest in solar energy, staff expects additional solar panel installation requests from 
commercial tenants.  

 
Project Overview & Staff Comments: 
• The proposal is to install 328 kilowatts of solar power, comprised of 837 roof-mounted dark 

blue silicon glass panels with aluminum framing, covering approximately 44% of both roofs. 
The proposed installation is designed to generate power for the common areas within the 
apartment complex (see Document 2). Each panel is approximately 79”-long by 40”-wide.  
 

• Both buildings are approximately 53’ in height at the tallest point with a light grey roof. The 
panels would be installed at a height not to exceed 13’-7/8” and set back 4’ from the parapet 
walls. The majority of the parapet walls are taller than 32”. Small sections of the parapet walls 
are 16” tall as the heights are staggered around the perimeter. These lower sections would 
still provide sufficient coverage for the panels and mounting system. The petitioner stated the 
solar panels would not be visible from the ground.  
 

• Section 6-17-6 of the Lincolnshire Village Code (see attached Document 3) regulates the 
approval process and installation of solar panels in the Village. The proposal meets code 
requirements.   

 
Approval Process:  
Solar panel proposals for B2-zoned properties are subject to review by the Architectural Review 
Board and final approval by the Village Board. No preliminary evaluation with the Village Board is 
required.  
 
Motion: 
The Architectural Review Board moves to recommend approval to the Village Board installation 
of the proposed solar panels for 444 Social Luxury Apartment complex at 444 and 446 Parkway 
Drive, as presented in the packet submitted by Smash Residential Chicago, date stamped 
received October 8, 2019, and further subject to… 
 

{Insert any additional conditions or modification desired by the Architectural Review Board} 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.1 ARB  

 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
• Document 1: Location Map.  
• Document 2: Petitioner’s cover letter and presentation packet, prepared by Smash 

Residential Chicago, date stamped received October 8, 2019.   
• Document 3: Solar Energy Systems Code.  

   
Meeting History 

Architectural Review Board October 17, 2019 
 

 



tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 1



tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 2





















































 
  

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS 
Revised 03/22/2010  Page 11 

b. A wildlife study shall be conducted by a qualified professional not 
in the employ of the Applicant, such as an ornithologist or wildlife 
biologist, to determine if there is any potential impact the SWES 
may present to migratory birds and wildlife species.  In cases 
where the wildlife study indicates that a protected natural 
resource will be adversely affected by an SWES, the Village shall 
consult with the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (IDNR), 
in accordance with Title 17 of the Illinois Administrative Code 
Part 1075, to determine whether the protective measures 
outlined in the study are deemed acceptable.  A final decision on 
the application shall not be made until such consultation with 
IDNR is resolved. 

 
G.  COMPLIANCE: Every SWES must maintain compliance with the plans and 

specifications approved by the Village Board of Trustees.  If a SWES becomes 
non-compliant with approved plans and specifications due to, but not limited to: 
discoloration, cracking, missing components, rusting, settling, damage or 
general disrepair; then the owner/operator of the SWES and the owner of the 
building or lot on which the SWES is located will be jointly and severally 
responsible for remedying the specific non-conformities.  These non-
conformities must be remedied within forty-five (45) days after receipt of written 
notice sent by the Village to the owner/operator of the SWES and the owner of 
the building or lot.  Failure to remedy all of the cited non-conformities, within 
the forty-five (45) day time period, shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding 
the amount described per day that the violation continues, pursuant to Chapter 
4 of Title 1 of the Village Code. 

 
H.  ENGINEERING CERTIFICATION: No SWES may be located within the Village 

unless the Applicant has provided to the Village the written certification of a 
professional engineer licensed by the State of Illinois that the structure upon 
which the facility is located is sufficient from a structure engineering standpoint 
to bear the load.  In instances of free-standing structures, this shall include a 
certificate that the foundation on which the structure is built, is constructed and 
engineered to take into account the existing soil conditions.  A licensed 
professional engineer shall also certify that in the event of a fall or collapse, 
that the facility is designed and manufactured to fall entirely within the 
boundary lines of the lot on which it is located, and that installation meets or 
exceeds the maximum construction and installation standards set forth by the 
manufacturer. 

 
 
6-17-6: SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (SES) 
 

tzozulya
Line

tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 3



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS 
Revised 03/22/2010 Page 12 

A. GENERAL REGULATIONS:  A Solar Energy System (SES), as referenced in
Section 6-17-2, may be erected or installed only in accordance with this Title 6,
Chapter 17 of the Village Code.  Any SES shall conform to all Federal laws and
regulations concerning its use and operation, and may be installed only in the
following zoning districts and standards:

1. Shall be permitted in the R1, R2, R2A, and R3 Zoning Districts.  Any
attached single-family residential development and mixed-use
development which contains residential housing units shall require review
by the Architectural Review Board prior to being approved or denied by
the Village Board.

2. Shall be permitted in the R4, R5, R6, B1, B2, E, and O/I Zoning Districts,
subject to review by the Architectural Review Board prior to being
approved or denied by the Village Board.

B. PERMITS: No such Solar Energy System (SES), as referenced in Section 6-
17-2, shall be erected, constructed, altered or relocated without first obtaining a
building permit from the Department of Community Development.  An
application for a building permit shall be made upon forms provided by the
Department of Community Development, signed by the Applicant, and contain
or have attached thereto the following information:

1. Name of person, firm, corporation or association constructing and
erecting the solar energy system.

2. Site plan showing the location of the solar energy system upon the lot and
copies of the manufacturer=s specification for the solar energy system.

3. Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant, and the name of
a responsible party in the case of corporate applications.

4. Written consent of the owner of the building structure or land on which the
solar energy system is to be erected.

5. Elevation(s) of the existing structural improvements and the proposed
solar energy system showing the size and design details.

6. Four (4) sets of plans and specifications showing the method of
construction, location, support, and attachment to the structure.

7. If required by the Department of Community Development, a copy of
stress sheets and calculations prepared by a licensed professional



 
  

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS 
Revised 03/22/2010  Page 13 

engineer showing that the solar energy system is designed for the 
deadload, in the amount required by the manufacturer and all other laws 
and ordinances of the Village. 

 
8. A line drawing of the electrical components, as supplied by the 

manufacturer, in sufficient detail to allow for a determination that the 
manner of installation conforms to the Village Code. 

 
9. Such other information that the Department of Community Development 

shall require to show full compliance with this and all other ordinances of 
the Village. 

 
C. PLACEMENT OF SES: 
 

1. Shall be limited to roof-mounted installations on a permitted structure, 
provided that the installation method shall be compatible and harmonious 
with the aesthetic qualities of the structure to which the device is attached 
so as to not abruptly alter the architectural character of the structure. 

 
a. Shall be attached directly to the exterior of the roof structure to 

ensure the lowest profile permissible.  All components of the 
SES shall not extend above the maximum building height 
permitted by the zoning district and beyond the existing limits of 
the roof. 

 
c. No component of the SES, including mounting racks, shall be 

permitted to tilt or rotate at a slope greater or less than the roof 
to which the device is attached. 

 
d. Shall be designed and installed to prohibit Sun Reflection 

towards vehicular traffic and any habitable portion of an adjacent 
structure.  Sun Reflection onto an adjacent roof shall be 
acceptable. 

 
e. Shall occupy not more than fifty-percent (50%) of the outside 

roof area to which the device is attached.  If an SES is installed 
on multiple roofs on a single structure, the SES shall occupy not 
more than thirty-percent (30%) of each outside roof area to 
which the device is attached. 

 
f. With the exception of Solar Panels, mounting racks, pipe runs, 

and electrical wire connections, no portion of an SES shall be 
installed on the outside of the roof. 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-17: ALTERNATIVE ENERGY COLLECTION SYSTEMS 
Revised 03/22/2010 Page 14 

g. No trees or vegetation shall be removed or pruned to reduce or
eliminate shading from the sun, unless warranted for good
forestry practices, as determined by the Village Forester.

6-17-7: DECOMMISSIONING AND RESTORATION PLAN: 

A. MICRO WIND ENERGY SYSTEMS (MWES) AND SOLAR ENERGY
SYSTEMS (SES):  When a MWES or SES is not operated for a continuous
period of at least nine (9) months, such Alternative Energy Collection System
and all related equipment shall be deemed abandoned by the Village.  The
owner of such Alternative Energy Collection System shall remove all items
within forty-five (45) days following receipt of written notification that removal is
required.  Such notice shall be sent by registered or certified mail, return
receipt requested, by the Village to such owner at the last known address of
such owner.  A principal structure or lot for sale, lease, or in foreclosure may
be exempt, provided that the MWES and/or SES are maintained pursuant to
this Title 6, Chapter 17 of the Village Code.

B. SMALL WIND ENERGY SYSTEM (SWES)

1. Prior to receiving a Special Use Permit for the installation of a SWES, the
owner and/or operator must include a Decommissioning and Restoration
Plan with the application request to ensure such Alternative Energy
Collection System and all related equipment is property decommissioned.
The owner of the SWES and the underlying property owner(s) shall be
jointly liable for the removal of all equipment associated with the SWES at
the end of the Special Use permit period, if any, the useful life of the
facility, or when the facility is abandoned or otherwise out of operation for
continuous period of at least nine (9) months.  The Decommissioning and
Restoration Plan shall state how the facility will be decommissioned and
how the site will be restored, and shall further provide:

a. Provisions for removal of the SWES and all related equipment,
including those below the soil surface.

b. Provisions for the restoration of the property and improvements
upon completion of the decommissioning of the Alternative
Energy Collection System and all related equipment.

 

tzozulya
Line



 

Agenda Item 
3.2 ARB  

 
 REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Architectural Review Board 
October 17, 2019 

 
Subject:  Ground Identification Sign Modification for Ravinia Plumbing – 

575 Bond Street 
  

Action Requested: Consideration and Approval of Ground Identification Sign 
Structural Modifications  
 

Petitioner:  Ravinia Plumbing   
 

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager  
 

Advisory Board Review: Architectural Review Board 
 

 
Background: 
• Ravinia Plumbing, petitioner and property owner, seeks to modify an existing double-post 

ground identification sign on their property at 575 Bond Street, as shown on Figure 1 and 
attached location map.  
 

• The 4-acre property in the Lincolnshire 
Business Center was developed in 
1989 with an office/warehouse building 
for Pacific Fasteners, and later 
occupied by Agie Limited, Faxitron X-
Ray, and 3L Corporation. The property 
is zoned O/Id Office-Industrial and is 
located in the Office/Industrial Sign 
District.   

 
• In February 2019, the ARB approved 

parking lot expansion, perimeter fence 
installation, and landscaping plans for 
Ravinia Plumbing, who purchased the 
property earlier this year.  

 
Project Overview & Staff Comments: 
• The petitioner proposes to modify the 

existing double-post ground 
identification sign used by prior 
building tenants to identify Ravinia Plumbing. The sign is currently legally non-conforming due 
to its size (see Document 2 and below table). The petitioner desires to bring the sign into 
compliance with the current application, as shown below:  
 
 
 

Figure 1: Location Map 



 

Agenda Item 
3.2 ARB  

 
 

 
Sign Copy 

Area    
(sq. ft.) 

Sign Structure 
Area           

(sq.ft.) 

Sign 
Height 

(ft.) 

Sign 
Structure 
Length 

(ft.) 

Setback 
from Curb 

(ft.) 

Code 
Requirements 
(maximum) 

30 72 6 12 15+ 

Proposed Sign  30 60 5 12 17 
Existing Sign 49.5 74 6 12 17 

 
• The existing sign is designed of a white metal material to coordinate with a cream and brown 

building color scheme. The modifications will include removing the existing metal sign panel 
and replacing it with a new white metal panel to match the existing support posts. The posts, 
sign location, and adjacent landscaping at the base of the sign (evergreen bushes, perennials 
and grasses) will remain unaltered. The sign will not be illuminated.      

 
• The sign copy is proposed to read “Ravinia Plumbing, Heating, Sewer and Electric,” which is 

part of the company’s registered name. Therefore, this message is not considered 
advertisement of products/services (which is prohibited by code) and can be permitted. The 
letters are proposed to be raised and designed of a blue plastic material with the “plumbing, 
heating, sewer and electric” placed on a yellow background. The “Ravinia” lettering is 
proposed to be placed within a box with a yellow outline. Blue and yellow colors are part of 
Ravinia’s logo.  

 
Approval Process:  
All new ground signs as well as structural ground sign modifications, such as the current proposal, 
are in the purview of the ARB per Section 12-4-1(D). The ARB review and approval will be final.  
 
Motion: 
The Architectural Review Board moves to approve the proposed ground identification sign 
modifications for Ravinia Plumbing at 575 Bond Street, as presented in the packet submitted by 
Ravinia Plumbing, with the cover letter dated October 8, 2019, and further subject to… 
 

{Insert any additional conditions or modification desired by the Architectural Review Board} 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
• Document 1: Location Map.  
• Document 2: Petitioner’s cover letter and presentation packet, prepared by North Shore 

Sign, on behalf of Ravinia Plumbing, dated October 8, 2019.  
 
 

 Meeting History 
Architectural Review Board October 17, 2019 

 
 



tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 1



 
 
 

October, 8th 2019 
 
Attn: Cherise Kennerley and ARB Members 
 
North Shore Sign is proposing a reface of the existing sign over at 575 Bond Street in Lincolnshire. We 
will be using the same foundation and poles but removing the existing “3L Corporation” face and 
replacing it with a new “Ravinia Plumbing” face. 
 
We will be removing the existing 5’ tall by 10’ long “3L Corporation” face and replacing it with a new 3’ 
tall by 10’ long face and using both of the existing 1’ wide posts. We will be reducing the height of the 
sign face to meet Lincolnshire’s updated sign code. We will be using a brand new, custom built 
aluminum cabinet for the face of the sign and using ¼” thick Plexiglas letters for the copy. The name 
“Ravinia” will be featured on the sign, as well as “plumping, heating, sewer and electric” which are all 
part of Ravinia’s registered name. 
 
We will not be moving the sign from it’s existing location, which is about 17’ from the street to the edge 
of the sign, just refacing using the existing poles and foundation.  Ravinia will also be using their existing 
265 sq. ft area of landscaping as well for their new sign. It will feature evergreen bushes, perennials 
(daylilies) and grasses. 
 
All of what North Shore Sign is producing will ensure Ravinia Plumbing has a great looking sign that will 
fit all of Lincolnshire’s codes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10-8-19 
North Shore Sign  
Matt Laska 
MattL@NorthShoreSigns.com 

 

 
 

mailto:MattL@NorthShoreSigns.com
tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 2





NOTED

7/11/19

KEN

AS
11854

1925 Industrial Drive  Libertyville, Illinois  60048  847-816-7020
" Q u a l i t y  S i g n a g e  S i n c e 1 9 3 0 "

NORTH SHORE SIGN SCALE

DATE

DRAWING #

DRAW BY:

SALESPERSON

This design is the exclusive property of North Shore Sign Company Inc., and is the result of the original 
and creative work of its employees.   This drawing is submitted to the respective customer for the sole 
purpose of consideration of whether or not to purchase this design, or a sign manufactured to this design 
from North Shore Sign Co.  Distribution, use of, or exhibition of this drawing to anyone outside 
customers organization, in order to secure quotation, design work, or purchase of a sign either to this 
design or similar to this design, is expressly forbidden.   In the event that such distribution, use or 
exhibition occurs, North Shore Sign is to be compensated $1500.00 for time, effort and creative service 
entailed in creating these plans, as well as any and all legal fees and expenses to enforce its rights.  
Copyright 2016 North Shore Sign Company Inc. 

Colors depicted on this drawing are printed  simulations to assist in visualizing the design. 
They do not accurately reflect the actual colors specified.

10'-0"

REMODEL EXISTING DOUBLE FACE NON- ILLUM. DISPLAY
1/2" = 1'-0"

FABRICATED ALUMINUM CABINET 2" DEEP / WHITE POLYURETHANE FINISH
1/4" FCO PLEXIGLAS LETTER & DOTS / BLUE (220-37)
LOWER SECTION - YELLOW (220-15) VINYL BKG. WHITE DROP VINYL SHADOW

 RAVINIA HEATING & PLUMBING
575 BOND ST. LINCOLNSHIRE, IL.

3
'-

0
"

1
5
"

1
7
" 5

1
/2
"

PG 2

e 10/4/19
REVISED COMMENTS

add bkg.

5'
-0

"

existing
supports

existing sign photo

2"

1/4" THICK
PLEXIGLAS
LETTERS

END VIEW

ALUMINUM
CABINET

12'-0"

R A V I N I A

PLUMBINGPLUMBING
HEATINGHEATING ELECTRICELECTRIC

SEWERSEWER













 

Agenda Item 
3.3 ARB  

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019_ElectronicMenuBoards\10_17_19_ARB\2019_10_17_ARB_ElectronicMenuBoards_PH.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Architectural Review Board  

October 17, 2019 
 

Subject:  Sign Control Code (Title 12) Amendment – Menu Boards  
 

Action Requested: Public Hearing regarding an Amendment to Title 12 (Sign Control) 
of the Lincolnshire Village Code to Permit, and Develop Regulations 
for, Manual and Electronic Menu Boards for Food Establishments 
with a Drive-Through  
 

Petitioner:  Keyser Industries/McDonald’s Restaurant – 450 Milwaukee Avenue 
 

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager   
 

Referred To:  Architectural Review Board 
 

Background: 
• Petitioner Keyser Industries, on behalf of the McDonald’s Restaurant at 450 Milwaukee 

Avenue, seeks an amendment to Title 12 (Sign Control) of the Lincolnshire Village Code 
(Village Code) to replace two existing manual menu board signs with two new electronic 
menu board signs. The request is supported by Franchise Realty Investment Trust, owner of 
the McDonald’s property.  
 

• Section 12-18-1(C) of the Lincolnshire Village Code (Sign Variance) allows petitioners to 
proceed directly to the Architectural Review Board (ARB) for a public hearing regarding sign 
code amendment and variation requests. However, Keyser Industries/McDonald’s requested 
an opportunity to appear before the Village Board (Board) prior to proceeding to the 
Architectural Review Board to obtain the Board’s input. On September 23, 2019, The 
Village Board considered this request and provided direction to staff and the petitioner to 
proceed to the Architectural Review Board for a public hearing and recommendation. 
While considering this request, the Village Board provided direction to review permissibility 
for gas station electronic signs and to identify the appropriate level of brightness for 
electronic menu boards (comparable to those adopted by the Village of Deerfield – please 
see below for additional detail).  

 
Public Hearing – Proposed Text Amendment:   
• Section 12-11-1(R) of the Sign Control Code (Prohibited Signs) includes electronic menu 

boards for restaurant establishments with a drive-through. Currently, only manual menu 
boards are permitted by code.  
 

• Section 12-9-1(A)(3) of the Sign Control Code (Sign Construction and Design: Specific 
Standards by Sign Type) currently regulates manual menu boards as follows: “In addition 
to a ground sign, drive-through establishments are permitted one (1) menu board sign, 
whether constructed as a ground sign or double post sign, no more than forty (40) square 
feet in sign area, no more than six (6) feet in height and no less than twenty (20) feet from 
any lot line.”  
 

• Menu boards are also subject to the general items of information limit applicable to all 
permanent signs per Section 12-8-1(H), allowing no more than two items of information 



 

Agenda Item 
3.3 ARB  

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019_ElectronicMenuBoards\10_17_19_ARB\2019_10_17_ARB_ElectronicMenuBoards_PH.doc 

(i.e., individual message types). The menu board display, as a whole, is considered one 
item of information. A business logo is considered a second item of information.  

 
• Electronic menu boards are becoming increasingly popular among food establishments 

that desire the flexibility and consistency of programming menu items, rather than manual 
changes to menus. McDonald’s has been replacing manual menu boards with electronic 
menu boards nationwide, per a corporate deployment program to increase customer 
satisfaction and provide consistent pricing information. The switch also allows McDonald’s 
to reduce the size of menu boards and make them easier to read and program.  

 
• The petitioner’s submittal packet (Document 2) details McDonald’s electronic menu board 

proposal for their Lincolnshire site, including board placement, design, and other 
parameters. McDonald’s proposes to replace two existing 43-square-feet manual menu 
boards with two new 20-square-feet electronic menu boards. No site or building changes 
are proposed. 

 
• Other restaurants with a drive-through may have different operational requirements for 

menu boards. Therefore, the proposed code amendment will be drafted to regulate menu 
boards broadly to allow for variability in restaurant operations while establishing a specific 
set of standards. Manual menu boards would continue to be allowed by code and 
restaurants would have the ability to apply for either manual boards or electronic boards.         

 
• If approved, the code amendment will benefit McDonald’s as well as other restaurants with a 

drive-through in the Commercial and Office/Industrial Sign Districts. In addition to 
McDonald’s, existing Lincolnshire restaurants with a drive-through are Culver’s and Dunkin’ 
Donuts. To date, Culver’s and Dunkin’ Donuts have not requested electronic menu boards. 
Staff contacted them to obtain their perspective on whether the code amendment would be 
of value to them. Culver’s indicated their support for the proposed code change but have no 
immediate plans to replace their manual menu boards with electronic ones. Dunkin’ Donuts 
has not responded to date.    
 

• Staff contacted the communities of Deerfield, Bannockburn, and Glenview to obtain their 
menu board requirements. The petitioner indicated these communities recently amended 
their codes at McDonald’s request to allow electronic menu boards. The City of Highland 
Park is currently drafting a similar code change.  
 

• Additionally, staff surveyed other communities regarding this matter through a Northwest 
Municipal Conference survey in January 2019 (see attached Document 4). Out of nine 
communities who responded to, seven indicated permissibility for electronic menu boards. 
These communities include Buffalo Grove, Libertyville, and Lake Zurich. Staff also 
surveyed adjacent communities regarding their regulations for electronic menu board 
brightness:  

 
o Deerfield limits the brightness level to no less than 500 nits and no more than 1,500 

nits both for the daytime and nighttime display (the intent is for the 500 nits limit to be 
used at night and up to 1,500 nits during the day). Staff learned this threshold was 
established after careful consideration and research, including Deerfield staff and 
advisory board visits to the Wheeling McDonald’s location.   

o Glenview limits it to 500 nits, which applies to daytime and nighttime conditions.  



 

Agenda Item 
3.3 ARB  

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019_ElectronicMenuBoards\10_17_19_ARB\2019_10_17_ARB_ElectronicMenuBoards_PH.doc 

o Bannockburn, Buffalo Grove, Libertyville, and the other communities that responded to 
the survey do not regulate electronic menu board brightness levels.  

 
Lincolnshire has limited the Marriott Resort electronic signs, Stevenson High School 
electronic sign, and Culver’s electronic sign to up to 5,000 nits during the day and no more 
than 1,000 nits at night. Staff believes the menu board limit should be less, given drivers 
are in close proximity to these signs, allowing for greater legibility than the existing ground 
electronic signs.   
 

• Staff and the Village Attorney have drafted an amendment to Village Code Section 12-11-
1 to propose new regulations for electronic menu boards and to introduce a new 
requirement for both manual and electronic menu boards to include landscaping at the 
base of each menu board to soften their appearance and provide screening (see below 
and attached Document 3).  
 
Chapter 9, Sign Construction and Design: Specific Standards by Sign Type 
Current regulations from Section 12-9(1)(A)(3) are proposed to be relocated to new and 
expanded Section 12-9(1)(H), Sign Construction and Design: Specific Standards by Sign 
Type, as follows:  

 
H. Menu Boards.  One (1) menu board is permitted for each restaurant drive-through 

aisle where patrons may order and receive food or beverages at a drive-through 
service aisle, subject to the following conditions:   

 
1. Menu boards will be designed only as a monument sign or double post 

sign. 
2. Menu boards will only be located adjacent to, and the sign face must aim 

toward, the drive-through service aisle. 
3. Each menu board will not exceed the following dimensions: forty (40) 

square feet in sign area, six (6) feet in height, and twenty (20) feet from any 
lot line.  

4. Menu boards shall be landscaped at the base with evergreen plantings.  
5. Menu boards may use an electronic sign, provided it complies with the 

following standards: 
 

1. The menu board content may change only once per meal service 
(breakfast, lunch, and dinner). 

2. Electronic signs shall be turned off when the drive-through service aisle 
is closed to patrons. 

3. Menu boards may not emit sound, except as part of the communication 
between the business and the patron. 

4. The content displayed on the electronic sign, and the transition 
between messages or images, will not use any flashing, blinking, or 
intermittent lights or other means not providing constant illumination, 
including strobe lights, spotlights, or floodlights. 

5. The content displayed on the electronic sign will use static images and 
will not use any animation. 

6. The brightness level of the electronic sign will be limited to no more 
than 1,500 nits during the day and no more than 500 nits at night, with 



 

Agenda Item 
3.3 ARB  

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019_ElectronicMenuBoards\10_17_19_ARB\2019_10_17_ARB_ElectronicMenuBoards_PH.doc 

the electronic sign equipped with a light sensor programmed to 
automatically adjust the brightness based on ambient light levels. 

7. The copy area shall have a black background with contrasting letters 
during nighttime display.   

8. Pursuant to Section 12-8-1(H)(3), each electronic message sign shall be 
counted as one item of information. The Village shall interpret and apply 
this rule so that the electronic message portion of the menu board shall 
count as one item of information only if all content of the electronic 
message pertains to the same subject matter at any one time. Electronic 
messages containing more than one subject matter at the same time 
shall be characterized as two items of information. 

 
Chapter 11, Prohibited Signs 
Current Section 12-11-1(R), Prohibited Signs, is proposed to be amended as follows:  
 
Signs composed of exposed neon tubing and, electronic display screens, electronic 
message signs, and similar technologies, unless otherwise permitted by Section 12-9-
1(H)(5), 12-9-1(F)(2)(b), a Planned Unit Development, or Master Sign Plan. 
 

• Staff shared these proposed amendments with the petitioner, who found them acceptable.   
 

• Staff requests the ARB’s review of Standard #6 above to determine whether the proposed 
maximum brightness level of 1,500 nits during the day and 500 nits at night (based on the 
Deerfield model) is appropriate. The petitioner included in the attached packet examples of 
different brightness levels from other area locations to assist the ARB and will provide 
additional information at the meeting. Note: McDonald’s menu board technology enables 
them to set brightness to between 500 and 2,500 nits.   

 
• A notice of the public hearing was published in the October 1, 2019 issue of the Daily 

Herald. A personal notice to adjacent property owners was not sent as it is not required for 
code amendments.  

 
• A draft ordinance authorizing the amendment is attached (see Document 5).  
 
Approval Process:  

1. Committee of the Whole – presentation – September 23, 2019 COMPLETE 
2. Architectural Review Board – public hearing – October 17, 2019 CURRENT  
3. Village Board – final review/approval – date to be determined FUTURE 

 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the ARB recommend approval of the proposed Sign Code text 
amendment.   
 
Motion:  
Having conducted and concluded a Public Hearing on October 17, 2019, the Architectural 
Review Board moves to recommend approval to the Village Board a text amendment to Title 12, 
Sign Control, of the Lincolnshire Village Code regarding manual and electronic menu boards, as 
presented in the presentation packet dated September 30, 2019, and. . . . . 

 
{and further subject to…} 



 

Agenda Item 
3.3 ARB  

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019_ElectronicMenuBoards\10_17_19_ARB\2019_10_17_ARB_ElectronicMenuBoards_PH.doc 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
• Document 1: Sign District map.  
• Document 2: Letter of request and packet prepared by Keyser Industries, dated 

September 30, 2019.  
• Document 3: Proposed Sign Code revisions regarding menu board regulations.  
• Document 4: Northwest Municipal Conference survey results regarding electronic menu 

boards.  
• Document 5: Draft ordinance, prepared by the Village Attorney.  

 
Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole – 
Presentation September 23, 2019 

Architectural Review Board –  
Public Hearing October 17, 2019 

 



!(

!((/

!(
(/

!(

§̈¦

4566

4566

4566

4566

4566

W
ESTMIN

STER WAY

Aptakisic
Rd

Oxford Dr

Elm
 R

d

Everett Rd

Duffy Ln

Route 45

MilwaukeeAve

Half Day Rd

Ba
rcl

ay
 B

lvd Ri
ve

rw
oo

ds
 R

d

94

22

45

21
45

22

56

52

 Commercial Sign District
Office/Industrial Sign District
Residential Sign District

°

Milwaukee Ave

MARRIOTT DR

In addition to those properties entirely located within the 
Commercial Sign District, those properties with 
frontage along Milwaukee Avenue (bounded by Half Day 
Rd and Aptakisic Road), with facades oriented towards 
and directly visible from Milwaukee Avenue, are permitted 
signage pursuant to the Commercial Sign District.

* For illustrative purposes only, not intended to identify 
actual Sign District Boundaries, please refer to notation.

SCALE: N.T.S.

b/

tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 1



 

  

September 30, 2019 
 
 
Village of Lincolnshire 
Attn: Chair Cherise Kennerley and ARB Members 
One Olde Half Day Rd 
Lincolnshire, I 60069 
 
Re: Code Text Amendment Request – McDonald’s  
 450 Milwaukee Avenue Store 
 
Chair Cherise Kennerley and ARB Members: 
 
I’m a Senior Project Manager and permitting specialist with Keyser Industries, one of five 
national integrators hired by McDonald’s to manage the implementation of their ODMB 
(Outdoor Menu Board) drive-thru maintenance and update project. Chris Prucnal is the 
franchisee owner/operator for the store located at 450 Milwaukee Avenue. We are 
requesting a sign code change to allow restaurant menu boards with electronic signs, 
which are currently prohibited. This request was considered by the Village board on 
September 23, 2019 and received positive feedback. 
 
The store operating hours for both the dining room and the drive-thru are Sunday – 
Thursday 5AM – 11PM and Friday – Saturday 5AM – 12AM. 
 
This is a national deployment program directed by McDonald’s Corporate to update the 
technology of their drive-thru menu boards to increase customer satisfaction and provide 
consistent promotional and product pricing information, particularly to equal the interior 
digital menu board pricing. This is not a self-created change by franchise owner/operators, 
and with about 70% of most sales going through the DT, it’s imperative that stores have the 
new menu boards to help customers know what is sold and to order more quickly and 
efficiently. It also helps with the safety of our crew so they don’t have to physically be in 
the drive-thru to change then manual changeable copy for day-shift menu parts and 
pricing. There is also a lower carbon footprint than legacy signs as POP (point of purchase) 
marketing materials (e.g. toppers and staked promotional items) will be phased out. 
  

tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 2



 

  

 Project Scope: 
o Replacing the two (2) existing menu boards with two (2) new menu boards; one 

(1) in each drive-through lane.  
o Installing new concrete footing for each sign and running new electrical conduit 

as needed.  
o The location and umber of menu boards will remain the same. 
o No other site or building changes are proposed.  

 

 Pre-Existing Menu Boards Proposed Digital Menu Boards 

Signage Area:  • 43 ft
2
 (each menu board) 

• 86 ft
2
 total 

 

• 20 ft
2 

Menu Board – Display Area Only   (27 ft
2
 including 

base/pole) 

• 40 ft
2 

total 
• Significantly smaller – 47% reduction 

Sign Height • 6.78’ 
o Screen – 54” 
o Base – 19.73”  

• 5.97’ 
o Screen – 49.625” 
o Pole – 22” 

Lighting:  • 56,850 Total Estimated 
Lumens 

• Not adjustable  

• Easier to read; providing faster service and reduced queue 
time for cars in drive-thru lanes Equipped with both a 
dimmer control and a photocell that automatically adjusts 
the display’s intensity according to natural ambient light 
conditions.  

• Effective Area = 19.87 sq ft  

• Sign Brightness 73.97 foot candle (2500 nit)  

• Sign Brightness at distance – calculated by 1/d squared 

x Sign Brightness = 0.00037322 foot candle  

• Ambient Light = .09 foot candle (1 lux)  

• Ambient Light + .3 foot candles = .39 foot candle  

• The menu boards light levels are preset to adjust to 500 nits 
– 2,500 nits   

• The light level preset can be adjusted to range as directed by 
each municipality 

• The display’s default maximum brightness setting is 
2,500nits, which represents 100% of brightness. The default 
minimum brightness setting is 500nits, which represents 
20% of its max brightness.  

• End user cannot adjust sign over 2500 nit output and cannot 
manipulate brightness change algorithm   

• Minimum default settings can be adjusted to meet different 
lighting requirements. 



 

  

Screen Content 
and Menu 
Changes 

• Manual changeable copy 
• Menu boards are manually 

changed for each meal menu 
display (i.e. breakfast, lunch, 
dinner) 

• Electronic Reader Boards (aka Electronic Changeable Copy 
Sign) 

• Menu boards will change no more than three (3) times a 
day for each meal service (breakfast, lunch and dinner). 

• Day menu color scheme – white background/black text 
• Evening menu color scheme – black background/white text 

to minimize glare and light output 
• All images will be static and there will be no flashing, 

blinking or intermittent lights or other means not providing 
constant illumination, including strobe lights, spotlights or 
floodlights. 

• Content will be identical on both menu boards 
• No video 
• No scrolling or exposed LED fixtures 
• The existing speakers will remain unchanged; however, the 

ordering screen will be covered on the speaker as 
customers will receive order confirmations on the menu 
boards 

• The menu boards will be turned off during drive-thru non-
operating hours. 

 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. I look forward to working with all 
of you on this request and appreciate your time and consideration. 
 
Kind Regards, 
 
Michelle Freeman 
Senior Project Manager/Permit Specialist 
michelle.freeman@explorekeyser.com  

O: 708.876.1249 
C: 708.910.4895 

mailto:michelle.freeman@explorekeyser.com


 

   

DAY TIME  – CLOSE UP 

EXISTING MANUAL MENU BOARDS – LINCOLNSHIRE McDONALD’S 



   

 

 

   

NIGHT TIME  – CLOSE UP 

EXISTING MANUAL MENU BOARDS – LINCOLNSHIRE McDONALD’S 



  

NEW MENU BOARDS – NORTHBROOK, IL – DAY 

 



NEW MENU BOARDS – NORTHBROOK, IL – NIGHT 

  

 



DEERFIELD, IL NIGHTTIME PHOTO BRIGHTNESS EXAMPLES/COMPARISIONS

The one on the right is full brightness 
(2,500nits) the Deerfield ARC group thought 
was too bright 

Difference between left and right is 100% vs 76% 



DEERFIELD, IL NIGHTTIME PHOTO BRIGHTNESS EXAMPLES/COMPARISIONS

This is 60%  = aprox. 1,500nits This is 40% = aprox. 1,000nits 



DEERFIELD, IL NIGHTTIME PHOTO BRIGHTNESS EXAMPLES/COMPARISIONS

This is 20% aprox. 500nits 



Return to Agenda



1
C-2.1



MENU BOARD IS ELECTRIFIED, USING EXISTING DEDICATED 20AMP CIRCUIT FOR EACH D/T LANE AN WILL HAVE ISOLATED GROUNDS.

CONDUIT: EXISTING TO HOME RUN IS 2”. NEW FEEDER WILL BE 3/4” FOR LINE VOLTAGE. ALL CONDUIT EXISTING WILL BE SCHEDULE 40PVC UNDERGROUND.

LINE VOLTAGE WIRING: 4#12 &1312 GND &1#12 ISOLATED GND TO EXISTING PANEL FOR ISOLATED GROUND POWER TO MENU BOARDS

LOW VOLTAGE CABLING: CAT-6 OUTDOOR & UNDERGROUND RATED BELKIN CABLING TO EXISTING NETWORK DATE SWITCH FOR COMMUNICATION TO MENU BOARDS.

BUILDING/ELECTRICAL/MECHANICAL COMMENTS: 

B) NEW LANE 2 MENU BOARD INSTALLATION-REMOVE OLD BOARD

SCREEN DIMS: 4’-10”W x 4’-1 5/8”H x 1’-1 1/2”D

TOTAL BOARD HEIGHT (WITH BASE): 5’-11 5/8”H

MINIMUM SETBACK FROM PUBLIC WAY: 40’

NEW SCREEN SQUARE FOOTAGE: 20’

OLD SCREEN SQUARE FOOTAGE: 43’

A) NEW LANE 1 MENU BOARD INSTALLATION-REMOVE OLD BOARD

SCREEN DIMS: 4’-10”W x 4’-1 5/8”H x 1’-1 1/2”D

TOTAL BOARD HEIGHT (WITH BASE): 5’-11 5/8”H

MINIMUM SETBACK FROM PUBLIC WAY: 40’

NEW SCREEN SQUARE FOOTAGE: 20’

OLD SCREEN SQUARE FOOTAGE: 43’

C) EXISTING DRIVE-THRU EQUIPMENT TO BE REMOVED

Double Screen

Double Screen

*NO EXISTING PREBROWSE AND NEW PREBROWSE*

1
Drive Thru Order Point

SCALE: N.T.S

140’-1”

E-C

152’-6”

E-C

154’-0”

EXISTING MB

141’-1”

EXISTING MB
1
2
6
’-3

”

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 M
B

1
2
6
’-1

”

E
-C

1
3
8
’-1

0
”

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 M
B

1
4
0
’-0

”

E
-C

C
C-1.2

B

A

C-1.2

C-1.2

C
C-1.2

C-2.1



PROPOSED ELECTRONIC
MENUBOARD LOCATION

EXISTING MANUAL
MENUBOARD LOCATION C-2.2

PROPOSED ELECTRONIC
MENUBOARD LOCATION

EXISTING MANUAL
MENUBOARD LOCATION

2
Drive Thru Order Point

SCALE: N.T.S



AERIAL VIEW OF 450 MILWAUKEE AVENUE MARKED FOR PROPOSED BOARDS 

 



   

THIS IS THE MIN (500 NITS) AND MAX (1,500 NITS) THAT DEERFIELD 
ARC SETTLED ON DURING THEIR FIELD TRIP TO THE WHEELING STORE 





























MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Plan Commission 
 
FROM: Jeff Ryckaert, Principal Planner and Dan Nakahara, Planner 
 
DATE: July 19, 2019 
 
RE: Public Hearing: McDonald’s Restaurant Request for an Amendment to Their Special 
Use and Approval of New Menu Boards Pursuant to Article 9.02B.14 (a) of the Deerfield 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Subject Property 
 
The subject property consists of McDonald’s Restaurant, which is located at 50 N. 
Waukegan Road.  In 1977, McDonald’s was granted permission to construct the 
restaurant as a Special Use (Ord. O-77-08).  In 1982, McDonald’s was granted an 
amendment to the existing Special Use to allow a drive-thru (Ord. O-82-50 and Ord. O-
82-51) and in 1991; McDonald’s amended their Special Use to add a second drive-up 
window used for cash/transactions (Ord.O-91-27). In 2012, McDonalds was granted an 
amendment to the existing Special Use to allow changes to the Special Use including 
dual menu board lanes at the west side of the building to replace the single drive-thru 
lane (Ord. O-12-23 and O-12-24).  The subject property is zoned C-2 Outlying 
Commercial District.  A restaurant is a Special Use in the C-2 Outlying Commercial 
District. 
 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning 
 
North: C-2 Outlying Commercial District – Firestone 
South: C-2 Outlying Commercial District – Parkway Bank, Luna Flooring and Carpets, 

Top Fitness Store, Charles Ifergan Salon and Rainbow Cleaners (this property is 
commonly referred to as the Atrium/Golden Bear PUD) 

East: (across Waukegan Road) C-2 Outlying Commercial District – Cadwell’s Corners 
West: C-2 Outlying Commercial District – medical office & professional office building  
 
Proposed Plan of Development 
 
Franchise Realty Investment Trust – IL (a Maryland corporation), property owners of 
the 50 Waukegan Road property, are proposing to amend their existing Special Use for 
the restaurant to allow two (2) new dual panel digital menu boards.  McDonald’s 
franchises are eliminating their existing menu boards and upgrading to digital menu 
boards in all of its locations.  The Deerfield McDonald’s currently has two (2) drive-thru 
lanes, each lane with its own three (3) panel, 43 square foot menu board.  The dual 
panel digital menu boards are proposed to each be 20 square feet and able to change 



 2 

several times a day as the menu changes. The digital menu board will dim automatically 
as the ambient light lessens and switch to “night mode” during evening hours that will 
be controlled by an internal photocell.  The “night mode” replaces the black font/white 
background with a white font/black background.   
 
The petitioner is proposing the keep the brightness levels for the menu boards between 
500 – 1,500 NITs. There will be no flashing, moving or bright images on the new digital 
menu board.  The existing speaker posts will remain for audio, but the confirmation 
screen on the existing post is being eliminated because the order confirmation will be 
viewed on the new digital menu boards. No additional sound or speakers are being 
proposed with these digital menu boards. No preview boards are being proposed as 
part of this plan. The new digital menu board location will remain behind the restaurant 
and concealed from view to Waukegan Road.  The existing yellow canopies under which 
the vehicles place their order will remain unchanged and the proposed digital menu 
boards will be programmed to shut down during the drive-thru non-business hours. 
Nothing will change to the plans regarding traffic, circulation or parking. 
 
In 2014, the Plan Commission explored the issues of menu boards and sent a 
recommendation to the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees passed Ordinance O-
14-13 regarding drive-thru menu boards. The outcome was that the Village would 
review menu boards of all types in the C-2 Outlying Commercial District on a case-by-
case basis. Any new menu boards would be evaluated based on the number, area, 
location, height and lighting. 
 
Zoning Conformance 
 
The petitioners are seeking approval of an amendment to a Special Use, and review of 
their proposed menu boards by the Plan Commission pursuant to below Article 9.02B.14 
(a) of the Deerfield Zoning Ordinance.  Attached are the Special Use Standards. 
 
Article 9.02B.14 -Restaurant Drive-Thru Menu Board Signage in the C-2 Outlying 
Commercial District (Ordinance Number 0-14-13)  

a. Number, Area, Location, Height and Lighting- The number, area, location, height 
and lighting of a restaurant drive-thru menu board sign shall be determined by the 
Corporate Authorities following review and consideration of a recommendation from 
the Village Plan Commission. (Ord. 0-14-13) 

 
Landscaping Plan 
 
The petitioner plans to maintain the existing landscape plan (the location of the 
proposed menu boards will remain the same).   
 
 
 



 3 

Menu Board Brightness  
 
At the June 27, 2019 Plan Commission prefiling conference meeting, the petitioner 
noted that they would keep the brightness level for the proposed menu board between 
500 – 2,500 nits.  A nit is a unit of measurement of luminance, or the intensity of visible 
light. Nits are used to describe the brightness of computer displays, such as LCD and 
CRT monitors and in this case a digital menu board.  Luminance (measured in nits) 
quantifies surface brightness, or the amount of light an object gives off. Illuminance 
(measured in footcandles) quantifies that amount of light, which falls onto an object. 
 
Appearance Review Commission (ARC) – Brightness Condition 
 
The petitioners met with the ARC on June 24th.  The ARC reviewed the proposal for two 
(2) new digital menu boards at the McDonald’s drive-thru.  The Commission was 
pleased that the size of the new menu boards were smaller than the existing boards (20 
SF vs 43 SF) and that they would look cleaner in appearance.  They also liked the fact 
that no advertisement toppers are allowed on top of the boards.   
 
The ARC was not comfortable approving the menu boards at their June 24th meeting 
because LED lighting reads differently to the eye than other types of lighting.  Staff 
researched the illumination level and the ARC scheduled a field visit meeting on July 10, 
at the McDonald’s located at 188 E. Dundee Road in Wheeling to view their digital menu 
boards, which are the same menu boards proposed for Deerfield. The purpose of the 
meeting was to view the menu boards in the daylight and at night and to vary the 
brightness levels of the menu board during those times.  
 
The ARC viewed the Wheeling McDonald’s drive-thru menu board at various ambient 
lighting levels. A remote control was used to vary the brightness of the screen during the 
viewing. The ARC determined that the upper limit of brightness (2,500 nits) proposed by 
McDonald’s at the June 24, 2019 ARC meeting (and June 27 Plan Commission prefiling 
conference) was too bright. After their on-site viewing of the menu boards at the Wheeling 
McDonalds, the ARC determined that keeping the brightness between 500-1,500 nits 
throughout the day would be more appropriate for the Deerfield location. This information 
was passed on to the Deerfield McDonald’s property owner and the petitioner has revised 
the proposed menu board brightness to 500 – 1,500 nits.  See attached ARC summary and 
minutes from their July 10th field visit meeting.    
 
 
 



DRAFT 

PLAN COMMISSION 
VILLAGE OF DEERFIELD 

Minutes 
 

The Plan Commission of the Village of Deerfield called to order a Workshop Meeting at 7:30 
P.M. on June 27, 2019 at the Village Hall, 850 Waukegan Road, Deerfield, Illinois. 
 
 
Present were:  Larry Berg, Chairman 
   Al Bromberg 
   Blake Schulman 

Jennifer Goldstone 
 

Absent were: Elaine Jacoby 
 Justin Silva 
 
Also present:  Jeff Ryckaert, Principal Planner 

Daniel Nakahara, Planner 
 

Chairman Berg swore in all who plan to testify before the Commission. 
 
Public Comment on a Non-Agenda Item 
 
There were no comments from the public on a non-agenda item. 

 
WORKSHOP MEETING 
 
(1) Prefiling Conference: McDonald’s Restaurant Request for an Amendment to Their 

Special Use and Approval of New Menu Boards Pursuant to Article 9.02B.14 (a) of 
the Deerfield Zoning Ordinance at 50 N. Waukegan Road 

 
Michelle Freeman of Keyser Industries reported that her company is the innovator for the new 
McDonald’s digital menu boards nationwide and provided an overview of the plans for the 
Deerfield McDonald’s menu boards. 
 
Ms. Freeman stated that as Village staff shared in their memo, this location was first a single 
drive-thru with one ordering point and later added a second ordering point followed by a dual 
lane drive-thru. For the current project plans at the Deerfield location, they are looking to 
remove all old static menu boards and replace them with digital menu boards. The existing 
menu boards are manually changed, and the new boards will be digital LED Samsung screens 
similar to a large television. She added that the interior of many McDonald’s locations are also 
being remodeled to also have these same digital menu boards that can be changed and 
uploaded electronically instead of manually as previously done. Pricing, different menu items 
and current promotions can all be changed more easily. The outdoor digital menu boards all 
have ambient light sensors, which will dim the brightness based on the surrounding light. Ms. 
Freeman shared that the Appearance Review Commission (ARC) had some questions on the 
brightness and she will do her best to further explain. The digital menu boards can be lit from 
500 to 5,000 NITs, which is the measurement for LED lights.  The McDonald’s menu boards will 
not go higher than 2,500 NITs. The old backlit menu boards are fluorescent lights, which are 
measured in lumens and are much brighter than what is currently being proposed. She added 
that the maximum brightness on the new screens can changed manually, as well. She 



Workshop Meeting 
June 27, 2019 
Page 2 
 
commented that another municipality required that the screen brightness did not exceed 2,200 
NITs and had that location decrease the menu board screen brightness to 400 NITs. 
 
Ms. Freeman displayed images of the new double unit screens pointing out that the existing 
static menu boards have four units and they will be going down to two. The screens will 
measure 58 inches wide and 47.7 inches high which is approximately 19 square feet, a 
reduction of almost 60% to the existing 42 square feet menu boards. She noted that the current 
boards are manually changed from breakfast to lunch to dinner to late night menu. The new 
screens will remain static except for when they are changed electronically for each meal, as is 
currently done manually. 
 
Chairman Berg asked if there will be less content on the boards given the smaller surface. Ms. 
Freeman replied that there would not be less content although it will be aligned differently to be 
clearer and more condensed. She added that part of the spacing on the current boards are so 
that the menus can be changed out manually. 
 
Ms. Freeman commented that a new foundation would be dug for the new screens slightly 
closer to the drive-thru window. The confirmation display on the existing speaker post, which 
verifies the customer order, will be covered up as this information will now be on the proposed 
menu board for each customer. Ms. Freeman displayed images of other digital menu boards 
and their content during daylight hours with a white background while the night mode will have 
the content in white with a black background. 
 
Ms. Freeman reviewed the benefits of the new digital menu boards. The proposed menu boards 
will be smaller and less bright than the existing boards. The current fluorescent lighting is not 
adjustable and has higher lumens than the LED brightness (NITs).  The proposed menu boards 
will be able to adjust to outdoor brightness. The size and brightness of the menu board will both 
be cut by about half the size of the current menu boards. The new screens are also more 
sustainable and will last about 15 years. She commented that the location will also be better for 
customer visibility and eliminate the prebrowsing ads. The current menu boards are no longer 
manufactured making them difficult to maintain. Maintenance for the digital screens will be 
easier and printed material will no longer be needed. She added that if a store added printed 
material on top of the screens and changed the structure of the menu board, the warranty for 
the menu board would be void. 
 
Ms. Freeman displayed an image of a person standing next to similar existing menu boards as 
well as new digital boards to show the size comparison. She commented that the digital screens 
have a cleaner look. She reported that the existing landscaping around the Deerfield 
McDonald’s drive-thru is low maintenance and will be maintained or improved upon once the 
work is complete. Ms. Freeman showed an image of an old menu board lit up at night as well as 
a new LED screen at night to show that the new screen has less glare and will be less bright. 
Ms. Freeman showed the site plan pointing out the planned location for the new boards, which 
will be slightly moved up. 
 
Commissioner Bromberg commented that in the notes from the ARC meeting there was a 
question about menu customization that can be changed for each specific customer and asked 
for more information on this. Ms. Freeman replied that this is not in the current plans and would 
be something in the future that the technology of digital menu board could allow. An example of 
this would be that the menu font could change to larger size for visually impaired customers or 



Workshop Meeting 
June 27, 2019 
Page 3 
 
change to a different language. She reiterated that this type of customization is not in the 
current plans and the menu boards will be static. 
 
Mr. Ryckaert stated that, per the zoning ordinance, there can be no exposed LED lighting bulbs, 
and that the lighting source for the menu boards is internal.  This sign does not flash, flicker, or 
scroll on a continuous basis which is not allowed by the zoning ordinance. 
 
Chairman Berg asked if the speakers would be altered. Ms. Freeman replied that the speakers 
will not change. The only difference will be that the order display will be covered up and the 
order will now show on the new digital board. 
 
Ms. Freeman stated that the process to add the new boards is to first dig the foundation and 
add the new digital boards before removing the old ones. The work will be done during their 
least busy hours to not cause any issues. Ms. Freeman showed a listing of Chicago area 
McDonald’s locations that already have digital menu boards. 
 
Commissioner Bromberg commented that this request seems very non-controversial and he has 
no concerns with their proposal, as it is not visible from any residences. Commissioner 
Goldstone agreed. 
 
Chairman Berg asked if Village staff is looking into setting requirements for brightness and size.  
Mr. Ryckaert explained that the text amendment made in 2014 for new drive-thru menu boards 
indicated the new menu board signage is to be reviewed by the Plan Commission on a case-by-
case basis for the number, size, location, height and lighting.  The petitioner has agreed to limit 
the brightness of the sign as the ARC is suggesting.   In the future, he believes the Village will 
see more requests for digital drive-thru menu boards that will be reviewed on a case-by-case 
basis.   
 
Ms. Freeman indicated that the current nighttime display to the LED adjustable screen would be 
a 42% decrease in brightness.  Ms. Freeman noted that 500 NITs is equivalent to approximately 
8,565 lumens and 2,500 NITs is equivalent to approximately 32,910 lumens.  Chairman Berg 
confirmed that the lighting adjustments are all automated. Ms. Freeman said yes, similar to how 
your phone display can automatically adjust to the lighting. 
 
There were no other comments from the Commission. 
 
Mr. Ryckaert reported that the Public Hearing on this matter will be July 25, 2019. 
 
Items from the Staff 
 
Mr. Ryckaert reported on upcoming Plan Commission agenda items. 
 
Adjournment 
 
There being no further discussion, Commissioner Bromberg moved, seconded by 
Commissioner Goldstone to adjourn the Workshop Meeting at 8:00 P.M. The motion passed 
with a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Laura Boll 



Summary of Appearance Review Commission meeting held on July 10, 2019 for the 
digital menu boards at McDonald’s at 50 N. Waukegan Road.  The meeting was held at  
McDonald’s at 188 E. Dundee Road in Wheeling to view their digital menu boards.  The 
purpose of the meeting was the view the menu boards in the sunlight and at night and 
vary the brightness during those times. 
 
 
Petitioners:   No Petitioners were present 
   
 
The ARC met and viewed the digital menu board in the McDonald’s drive-thru at various 
ambient lighting levels.  A remote control was used to vary the brightness of the screen 
during the viewing.  The ARC determined that the upper limit of brightness (2,500 nits) 
proposed by McDonald’s at the June 24, 2019 ARC Meeting was too bright.  The ARC 
determined that keeping the brightness between 500-1,500 nits throughout the day would 
be more appropriate for Deerfield.  This information will be passed on to McDonald’s when 
they return to the ARC in July. 

 
 

Submitted:  
Liz Delevitt, Planning & Design Specialist 
Village of Deerfield  

July 10, 2019 - ARC Meeting Summary



UNAPPROVED DRAFT 
 

Appearance Review Commission 
 
Meeting Minutes                                                     July 10, 2019 
A meeting of the Appearance Review Commission was held on Wednesday, July 10, 
2019 at 8:00 p.m. at the McDonald’s, 188 E. Dundee Road in Wheeling, Illinois. 
Chairperson Lisa Dunn called the meeting to order at 8:08 p.m.  
 
Present were  
Lisa Dunn, Chairperson 
Sherry Flores 
Amy Schneider 
 
Absent was: 
Beth Chaitman 
Jason Golub 
Daniel Moons 
 
Also Present: 
Liz Delevitt, Planning & Design Specialist 
 
Public Comment: 
 
There were no public comments on non-agenda items. 
 
Business: 
 
1.  McDonald’s, 50 N. Waukegan Road – digital menu boards, on-site visit to 188 E. 
Dundee Road, Wheeling, IL 
 
The Commission viewed the existing menu board while in daylight.  The screen was set 
to 45% (approximately 1,125 nits).  Ch. Dunn said the screen looked bright, clean and 
readable.  Ms. Schneider does not think the screen is too bright.  Ms. Flores questioned 
the black background of the menu board.  Ch. Dunn believes the menu boards look much 
better without the advertising caps on top of them.  The Commission witnessed an order 
taking place by a customer and liked the order confirmation, which pops up in the lower 
left corner.  Ch. Dunn notes that whether or not they like it, digital menu boards are the 
wave of the future.  Ms. Delevitt mentioned that Highland Park has chosen not to allow 
any digital menu boards presently.  The Commission is ok allowing digital menu boards 
as long as they have appropriate restrictions placed on them. 
 
A discussion was had about the brightness of the board.  Ms. Delevitt explained that 
luminance (brightness of the source) is used to measure brightness on the screen instead 
of illuminance (brightness of light falling on an object).  McDonald’s has provided the 

July 10, 2019 - ARC Meeting Minutes



Appearance Review Commission 
July 10, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 
 
measurement of luminance in nits.  The screen at this location is set to go from 500 nits 
to 2,500 nits.   
 
Ms. Delevitt used a remote control to change the brightness to 2500 nits after the sun had 
set.  The Commission believes the background is too grey, and there is not enough 
contrast with the letters. 
 
Ms. Delevitt used the remote to change the brightness to 2000 nits.  Ms. Flores and Ms. 
Schneider note that the screen still appears too bright. 
 
Ms. Delevitt used the remote to change the brightness to 1500 nits.  The Commission 
thinks this brightness looks appropriate for the maximum brightness allowed. 
 
Ms. Delevitt changed the brightness to 1000 nits.  This brightness looks fine according to 
the Commission. 
 
Ms. Delevitt changed the brightness to 500 nits.  The Commission agreed this looks 
appropriate for the minimum brightness allowed. 
 
Illumination measurements (in foot-candles) were taken at different brightness levels 
using a light meter provided by Ms. Delevitt.  The measurements were taken at roughly 
5’ from the board, the location of a car pulled up to the menu board.  The ambient lighting 
in the background made it difficult to get a brightness reading of the menu board.  The 
data collected showed a range of 5.5 fc (at 500 nits), 8.7 fc (at 1500 nits) and 11.9 fc (at 
2500 nits).  The Commission agreed that using foot-candles to limit brightness for menu 
boards would be difficult to control. 
 
The Commission discussed their recommendation for the proposed McDonald’s menu 
boards in Deerfield.  They would recommend the brightness to vary from 500 nits to 1500 
nits. 
   
Items from the Commission: 
There were no items from the Commission. 
 
Items from Staff: 
There were no items from the Staff 
 
Adjournment: 
There being no further business or discussion, the meeting was adjourned at 8:52 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Elizabeth Delevitt 
Planning & Design Specialist 



Village of Deerfield 
2019 Zoning Ordinance Map 

 

 

 

 

Subject Property 

Lake Cook Road 



McDonalds

Firestone 

   

Ifergan 
Building

Bank



McDonalds



SPECIAL USE CRITERIA 
 

Does it meet the standards for a Special Use? A Special Use shall be authorized only 
when the Plan Commission finds all of the following: 

 
1. Compatible with Existing Development 

The nature and intensity of the activities involved and the size, placement and 
design of any structures proposed will be so planned that the Special Use will be 
compatible with the existing development and will not impede the normal and 
orderly development and improvement of surrounding property. 

 
2. Lot of Sufficient Size 

The size of the lot will be sufficient for the use proposed. 
 

3. Traffic 
The location of the Special Use within the Village will be such that adverse 
effects on surrounding properties will be minimal, particularly regarding the 
traffic generated by the Special Use. 

 
4. Parking and Access 

Parking areas will be of adequate size for the particular use and properly located, 
and the entrance and exit drives will be laid out so as to prevent traffic hazards 
and nuisances. 

 
5. Effect on Neighborhood 

In all respects the Special Use will not be significantly or materially detrimental 
to_the health, safety and welfare of the public or injurious to the other property or 
improvements in the neighborhood, nor will it diminish or impair property values 
in the surrounding area. 

 
6. Adequate Facilities 

That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or other necessary facilities 
have been or are being provided. 

 
7. Adequate Buffering 

Adequate fencing and/or screening shall be provided to ensure the enjoyment of 
surrounding properties, to provide for the public safety or to screen parking areas 
and other visually incompatible uses. 

 
8. If in C-1 Village Center District: That the establishment of the Special Use will 

not be injurious to the character of the C-1 Village Center District as a retail 
center for the Village. 



 
 
 

 
 

CASE #:     A2019-049 
 

LOCATION:  9815 N. Milwaukee Ave.  
 

PROJECT NAME:  McDonald's Menu Signage 

 
 

 
 

 
PROPOSAL: 
The applicant, McDonald’s, represented by Keyser Industries, requests approval of 
two (2) menu and order confirmation boards and one (1) pre-order board for the 
existing restaurant at 9815 N. Milwaukee Avenue.  
 
 
 
 

  

 

STAFF REPORT 
 

July 10, 2019 

 

Village of Glenview 

Appearance Commission 

TO: 
Chairman and Appearance 
Commissioners 
 
FROM: 
Community Development 
Department  
 
CASE MANAGER: 
Michelle House, Senior Planner 
 
SUBJECT:   
Certificate of Appropriateness 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:   
Staff requests a final determination 
on the proposal. 
 
APPLICANT: 
Keyser Industries  
10200 S. Kedzie Avenue 
Evergreen Park, IL  60805 
Tel: (708) 876-1249 
 
CONTACT: 
Michelle Freeman 
10200 S. Kedzie Avenue  
Evergreen Park, IL  60805 
Tel: (708) 910-4895 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Report Disclaimer: Village staff makes no representations regarding support, endorsement, or the 
likelihood of approval or disapproval by any Glenview regulatory commission or the Village Board of 
Trustees. 

 



 2 

 
Site Assessment 

 
 

AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHY:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 3 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHY: 
 

 
 

 
  



 4 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHY: 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  



 5 

 
Project Summary 

 
 
The applicant, McDonald’s, proposes two (2) illuminated menu and order confirmation boards and one 
(1) illuminated pre-order board for the existing restaurant at 530 Waukegan Road. 
The proposed menu board would measure 4.83 feet wide by 4.14 feet tall with a total height of 5.95 feet.  
The screen would change once for each breakfast, lunch, and dinner service. In accordance with Code 
requirements, there would be no video or continuous movement permitted. 
 
The proposed pre-order board would measure 2.43 feet wide by 4.14 feet tall with a total height of 5.95 
feet.  The screen would not be permitted to feature any video or movement on the screen. 
 
The existing drive-thru signage would be removed as part of this project. 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 
 

Text Pre-Order Board Menu and  Order Confirmation Board 

Location Drive-thru Drive-thru 

Design Electronic message center Electronic message center 

Letter Height Varies Varies 

Letter Color(s) Black or white depending on color of 
background 

Black or white depending on color of 
background 

Trim Cap Color N/A N/A 

Return Color Black Black 

Background 
Color 

Varies Varies 

Illumination 
Type & Color 

LED LED 

Raceway Depth N/A N/A 

 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH DESIGN GUIDELINES AND ZONING: 

Pre-Order Board(s) Pre-Order Board 

Proposed Sign Area 10.0 sq. ft. 

Compliance (10.0 sq. ft. per Ordinance) → Yes 

Proposed Sign Height 5.95 ft. 

Compliance (11 ft. tall per Ordinance) → Yes 

Compliance with Design Guidelines → Yes 

 
Menu Board(s) Menu Board 

Proposed Sign Area 20.0 sq. ft. 

Compliance (80.0 sq. ft. per Ordinance) → Yes 

Proposed Sign Height 5.95 

Compliance (11.0 ft. tall per Ordinance) → Yes 

Compliance with Design Guidelines → Yes 

 
  



 6 

 
Appearance Commission Review 

 
 
APPEARANCE PLAN COMMENTS:   
Staff comments after evaluating the proposal for compliance with the Appearance Plan: 

 
Sign Criteria from Appearance Plan: 

 Compatibility with building architecture 

 Compatibility with signs on adjoining 
buildings 

 

 Harmony with surrounding landscape 

 Good scale in relationship to surroundings 

 Use of harmonious colors

Staff comments: 
o All proposed signs shall not include video, flashing images, effects, or moving content on either 

the proposed pre-order or menu board. 
o Order confirmation will be done in a portion of the proposed menu board and would change once 

per transaction. 
o Illumination of the proposed signs would be limited to 1,750 lumens. 
o As proposed the square footage of the menu boards would be reduced by 23.0 square feet. 
o The petitioner shall furnish material and color samples of all proposed signage for review by the 

Appearance Commission.  
 
 
POTENTIAL NEIGHBORHOOD IMPACTS: 
The proposed signs are located along the existing drive-thru lanes at McDonald’s and are not expected to 
have any negative impacts upon adjacent properties.  
 
 
  



 7 

 
Technical Review 

 
PROJECT TIMELINE & OUTREACH: 
A. 06/05/19    Application Submitted  
B. 07/10/19  Appearance Commission Meeting 
C. TBD Permit Issuance  
D. TBD Inspection 
 
 2019 
                                          A              B C D           

 
 
REQUIRED APPROVAL(s): 
The following chart details the necessary required approvals: 
 

 
 

 
Attachments & Exhibits 

 
 
1. Sample Motion 
2. Petitioner’s Application & Exhibits 
  

Required   Regulatory Review 

 A. Annexation 

 B. Annexation with Annexation Agreement  

 C. Comprehensive Plan Amendment 

 D. Official Map Amendment 

 E. Rezoning  

 F. Planned Development  

 G. Conditional Use 

 H. Final Site Plan Review 

 I. Second Curb Cut 

 J. Subdivision (Preliminary, Final, and Waivers) 

 K. Variation(s)   (Zoning Board of Appeals)  

√ L. Certificate of Appropriateness   (Appearance Commission) 

 M. Final Engineering Approval & Outside Agency Permits 

√ N. Building Permits 

√ O. Building & Engineering Inspections 

 P. Recorded Documents (Development Agreements, Easements, Covenants, etc.)  

 Q. Business License 

 R. Certificate of Occupancy 

 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
 



 8 

 
Sample Motion 

 
 
I move in the matter of A2019-049, McDonald’s at 9815 N. Milwaukee Avenue, the Appearance 
Commission grants a Certificate of Appropriateness, based upon the findings the petitioner, through 
testimony and application materials, has demonstrated compliance with Section 54-64 Appearance Plan 
and in accordance with the documents submitted by Keyser:  
 

A. The documents prepared by McDonald’s dated 06/06/2019 
1. Site Plan 
2. Drive-Thru Order Point 

B. The documents created by GRC Engineering, Inc. dated 05/18/2018: 
1. Column & Foundation Single Face Menu Board (NS# 101-SF) 
2. Column & Foundation Double Face Menu Board (NS# 101-DF) 

C. The documents prepared by USRD: 
1. Menu Design & Content: Menu Design & Day-Parts 
2. Menu Design & Content: Pre-Browse 

D. All signage shall be operated in compliance with Sec. 98-98-333 of the Code. 
 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 6/10/19   Page 1 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 9 
 

SIGN CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN: SPECIFIC STANDARDS BY SIGN TYPE 
 
 

SECTION: 
 
12-9-1 SIGN CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN: SPECIFIC STANDARDS BY SIGN TYPE 

 
The following signs are the only types of permanent signs permitted in the Village.  
 
A. Ground Signs 
 

Ground signs are permitted subject to the following:  
 

1.  Ground signs are permitted only in the districts listed in Tables 1 and 2, subject to the 
regulations of Tables 1 and 2 and this Title.  

 
2.  One (1) ground sign is permitted per street frontage of a zoning lot with a maximum of 

two (2) sign faces, except that any lot or parcel with a frontage of eight hundred (800) feet 
or more may have two (2) ground signs located not less than four hundred (400) feet 
apart. If a zoning lot has frontage on more than one (1) street then said lot will be allowed 
one (1) ground sign per frontage, provided there is sufficient frontage to place the two (2) 
signs no closer than one hundred (100) feet apart.  

 
3. In addition to a ground sign, drive-through establishments are permitted one (1) menu 

board sign, whether constructed as a ground sign or double post sign, no more than forty 
(40) square feet in sign area, no more than six (6) feet in height and no less than twenty 
(20) feet from any lot line. 

 
34.  Ground signs must be setback a minimum distance from the edge of the street, as shown 

in Table 1: Ground Signs – Monument and Table 2: Ground Signs – Double Post. All 
signs must be located entirely on private property. No part of any ground sign may be 
located within or over a street. 

 
4. All ground signs shall be approved by the Department of Community and Economic 

Development as being in compliance with Title 5, Chapter 4 of the Village Code and shall be 
constructed of incombustible or approved combustible materials as defined in Section 12-3-1 
Definitions.  
 

5. Ground signs may be illuminated by backlit/reverse channel or channel lighting or by external 
lighting fixtures such as goosenecks and flood lights, with lighting color restricted to shades of 
white. Internally illuminated ground signs shall be designed so light is filtered through the face 
of individually cut letter sets.   

 
6. The sign structure and sign face of ground signs shall exhibit good scale and proportion; and 

shall be an integral part of the site and building design by sharing architectural features with 
the principal structure, including one or more building materials, colors, or design elements.  

 
 

7. The sign material of ground signs shall consist of materials such as wood, stone, brick, 
copper, bronze, steel, brushed aluminum, iron, concrete, or similar. Synthetic plaster shall be 
permitted if it is used as a primary exterior material on the approved principal structure. 

tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 3



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 2 
 
 
 

 
8. Letters and logo(s) are limited to no more than two (2) colors and must be individually carved, 

etched, or raised and may consist of plastic, wood, or metal letters, with a non-reflective 
surface, on a contrasting background.  Multiple colors used on a logo or mark registered with 
the United States Patent and Trademark Office are permitted.  Consistency must be provided 
between ground sign lettering and the accompanying wall signs on the building. 

 
9. Ground signs for multi-tenant buildings shall exhibit the same design characteristics; 

including materials, color, fonts, lighting, tenant panels, etc, and shall be consistent in design 
where there are multiple ground signs on a single property. Ground signs for multi-tenant 
buildings are limited to four (4) tenants per sign face and a development name. The 
development name must be larger than the name of individual tenants. In addition, the 
development name may be distinguished from the individual tenants by font, color or 
material.  

 
10. The Copy Area shall be a minimum of 2 inches (2”) from the perimeter of each Sign Face and 

shall not exceed a maximum of seventy percent (70%) of the Sign Area. 
 
 

TABLE 1 
GROUND SIGNS – MONUMENT 

SIGN DISTRICT Maximum Sign 
Area 

Maximum Height 
of Monument 

Maximum Length 
of Monument 

Minimum 
Setback 

Commercial Sign 
District 
- Single Tenant 

60 sq. ft. 6 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 

Commercial Sign 
District 
- Multi Tenant 

75 sq. ft. 7.5 ft.  10 ft. 15 ft. 

Office/Industrial Sign 
District 72 sq. ft. 6 ft. 12 ft. 15 ft. 

Residential Sign 
District 30 sq. ft. 5 ft. 6 ft. 15 ft. 

 
 

TABLE 2 
GROUND SIGNS – DOUBLE POST 

SIGN DISTRICT Maximum 
Sign Area 

Maximum 
Structure 

Area 

Maximum 
Structure 

Height 

Maximum 
Structure 
Length 

Minimum 
Setback 

Commercial Sign 
District 30 sq. ft. 72 sq. ft. 6 ft. 12 ft.  15 ft. 

Office/Industrial 
Sign District 30 sq. ft. 72 sq. ft. 6 ft. 12 ft.  15 ft. 

Residential Sign 
District 20 sq. ft. 44 sq. ft. 5.5 ft. 8 ft.  15 ft. 

 
 

B.  Wall Signs 
 

Permanent wall signs are permitted in the Commercial Sign District, the Office/Industrial Sign 
District and for non-residential uses in the Residential Sign District, subject to the following 
standards.  

 
1. Wall signs are permitted only in districts listed in Table 3, subject to the regulations of 

Table 3 and this Title. The maximum Sign Area of a wall sign shall be ten percent (10%) 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 3 
 
 
 

of the area of the wall to which it is attached, including doors and windows, or the 
maximum wall sign area listed in Table 3, whichever is less.  
 

2.  Wall signs are permitted for each building wall that faces a public street or parking lot, with 
no more than one (1) wall sign permitted on any wall, unless permitted by Section 12-9-
1(B)(11) and Section 12-9-1(B)(13). Where there is a secondary customer entrance, an 
additional wall sign is permitted but shall be limited to no more than sixteen (16) square feet 
and shall only indicate the name of the business and the words “entrance,” “enter” or similar 
term.  

 
3. The total area of a side wall sign or signs shall not exceed five percent (5%) of the area 

of the side façade of the principal building, including doors and windows, or twenty-five 
(25) square feet, whichever is less. Any side wall sign must be located facing a side yard 
of twelve (12) feet or more in width on the same lot. 

 
4.  Wall signs must be safely and securely attached to the building wall. Wall signs must be 

affixed flat against the building wall and must not project more than six (6) inches from 
the building wall. Illuminated wall signs shall not be permitted to extend more than twelve 
(12) inches beyond the sign face or sign structure. 

 
5. No wall sign affixed to a building, including sign support structure, may project beyond the 

ends or top of the wall to which it is attached. On buildings existing on the effective date 
of this Title, July 1, 2009, a parapet wall must not be constructed for the sole purpose of 
increasing the allowable height of a wall sign.  

 
6. Wall signs shall not cover windows, doors or architectural features. 

 
7.  For buildings in commercial use, wall signs should be located on the sign frieze, or the 

portion of the building immediately above the first floor windows and below the second 
floor window sills in the case of a two-story building. For buildings in office use that are 
larger than two-stories, wall signs may be located on the top floor of the building no more 
than five (5) feet above the windows on the top floor and no portion of such wall sign shall 
extend above the roof line. 

 
8. Wall signs may be constructed of wood, metal or plastic. 
 
9.  Wall signs may have either channel lit letters or reverse channel lit letters. Sign bands 

shall not be illuminated. In the Office/Industrial Sign District, channel lit letters are 
permitted under the following conditions: a) the majority of gross floor area must be 
devoted to office use; b) the wall sign shall only identify the office occupant; c) the 
building height must be a minimum of forty (40) feet; and d) the wall sign shall be 
mounted a minimum of thirty-five (35) feet above grade. Gooseneck reflectors are 
permitted on all wall signs provided the reflectors concentrate the illumination upon the 
sign face only. 

 
 

10. On multi-tenant commercial buildings, all wall signs must be located at a generally 
uniform height on the building wall in similar proportion to one another. Wall signs 
identifying individual tenant spaces in multi-tenant structures shall be centered within 
each leaseable space unless otherwise approved by the Department of Community and 
Economic Development. Signs within a multi-tenant commercial development must be of 
a natural or white finish, however a logo or mark registered with the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office shall not be limited by color. Where a single principal building is 
devoted to two (2) or more business or commercial uses, the operator of each such use 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 4 
 
 
 

may install a wall sign. The maximum area of each such sign shall be determined by the 
proportionate share of the front façade, including doors and windows, of the principal 
building occupied by each such use and applying such proportion to the total sign area 
permitted for the front wall of the building. 

 
11. On multi-tenant office buildings, one wall sign shall be permitted per building frontage, 

provided signs have a minimum separation from the common edge of each building 
frontage equal to ten feet (10’) or one third (1/3) of the length of the respective frontage, 
whichever is lesser.  
 

12. On multi-tenant industrial buildings, individual tenant wall signs shall be permitted only for 
those tenant spaces that have individual entrances facing a public street or a parking lot. 
Such signs must be located over or next to a corresponding entrance at a uniform height 
on the building wall in similar proportion to one another. Regardless of whether the first 
wall sign in any multi-tenant building is installed over the entry or next to the entry, that 
same placement type shall be required for any additional signs in the same building. The 
maximum area of each such sign shall be determined by the proportionate share of the 
front façade, including doors and windows of the principal building occupied by each 
tenant space and applying such proportion to the total sign area permitted for the front 
wall of the building. Any two adjoining wall signs placed next to entrances shall be 
located no closer than 1 foot (1’) from each other. Any two adjoining wall signs placed 
above entrances shall be located no closer than 5 feet (5’) from each other. 

  
13. Within a single-tenant commercial development, signs utilizing carved, etched, or raised 

letters are not limited by color. Metal letters and logos shall have a non-reflective metal 
surface. 

 
14. Wall signs shall be attached to a building façade at a height of not less than eight (8) feet 

above any sidewalk, and may not extend over said thoroughfare and/or sidewalk.  
 

15. Consistency must be provided between ground sign lettering design for individual tenants 
and the corresponding lettering of wall signs on the façade of the building. 

 
 

 
TABLE 3 

WALL SIGNS 

SIGN DISTRICT Maximum Sign Area Maximum 
Sign Length 

Maximum 
Height of 
Sign Face 

Maximum 
Height of 
Letters 

Maximum 
Height of 

Logo 

Commercial Sign 
District 

10% of the area of the 
wall to which the sign is 

attached 
18 ft. 3 ft. 24 in. 30 in. 

Office/Industrial Sign 
District 

10% of the area of the 
wall to which the sign is 

attached 
20 ft. 3 ft. 24 in. 30 in. 

Residential Sign 
District 
- Non-residential Use 

10% of the area of the 
wall to which the sign is 

attached, 
 or 24 sq. ft.,  

whichever is less 

8 ft. 2 ft. 12 in. 18 in. 

 
 
C.  Awnings and Canopies 

 
Awnings and canopies that are considered an architectural feature of a building not used for 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 5 
 
 
 

advertising are not considered a sign. Awnings and canopies containing an advertising 
message shall be considered a sign, subject to review by the Architectural Review Board and 
are subject to the following regulations: 

 
1.  Awnings and canopies are permitted signs in any non-residential sign district.  

 
2. All awnings or canopies must maintain a minimum eight (8) foot clearance from grade. 

Awnings and supports for canopies must not extend past a setback two (2) feet from the 
curb line, or if there is no curb line the property line.  

 
3. An advertising message on any individual awning or canopy is limited to twenty-five 

percent (25%) of the surface of the vertical face of the awning or canopy on which it is 
placed. The advertising may contain one (1) of the following items of information per 
awning or canopy: the legal business name, logo, or a business product or service; all of 
a consistent color and font size. No more than four (4) awning or canopy signs are 
permitted on each frontage described in Paragraph 4 below. 

 
4. Awning and canopy signs shall be permitted for each facade of a building or tenant space 

that has been designed to include a customer entrance, display or decorative window, or 
for which the architectural design treatment and details are the same as those used in the 
primary facade of the building, subject to review by the Architectural Review Board. 

 
5. Awning or canopy signs shall be centered on the awning or canopy to which they are 

affixed and located parallel to the building facade upon which the awning or canopy is 
attached. 

 
6.  Awnings and canopies shall be constructed out of incombustible, non-reflective material. 

Back-lit awnings and canopies are prohibited. 
 

7.  Awnings and canopies must be securely attached to and supported by a building. All 
frames and supports must be made of metal or other similar rigid material and meet the 
requirements of Title 5, Chapter 4. 

 
8.  All awnings or canopies shall comply with the following design standards: 

 
a.  Awnings and canopies shall be compatible in material and construction to the style 

and character of the building. The color of the awning or canopy shall be compatible 
with the overall color scheme of the façade. 

 

Examples of awnings that meet the standards of 12-9-1-C 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 6 
 
 
 

b.  Awnings and canopies shall be generally aligned with others nearby in order to 
maintain a sense of visual continuity. 

 
c. Awnings and canopies shall be tailored to the façade of the building and positioned 

so that distinctive architectural features remain visible. 
 

d. All awning and canopy signs located on an individual building shall be of a similar 
size with no more than one (1) line of horizontal sign copy permitted per awning or 
canopy sign. However, if the awning or canopy sign message is part of a business 
registered name displayed over two lines, two lines shall be permitted.   

 
e. Awning or canopy signs will not be permitted on the sloped or curved face of an 

awning or canopy. 
 

9. The following maximum dimensions are permitted for awning and canopy signs: 
 

a. Letter Height: Twelve (12) inches. 
 

b. Logo Height: Eighteen (18) inches. 
 

c. Sign Face Height: Eighteen (18) inches. 
 

d. Sign Length: Ten (10) feet. 
 

e. Sign Surface Area: Ten (10) square feet. 
 
 
 
 

D.  Blade Signs 
 

1. Location 
 

Blade signs shall be erected perpendicular to the structure to which they are attached. 
Signs erected at the corner of a building may be placed at a one-hundred-thirty-five 
(135°) degree angle to the facade of the building used for customer entrance. No portion 
of a blade sign shall be permitted to be less than ten (10) feet above the level of the 
walkway or predominant grade over which it extends. 

 
2. Size  

 
Blade signs are permitted up to a maximum surface area of four (4) square feet for 
tenants in multi-tenant buildings and twenty (20) square feet for free-standing 
businesses. 

 
3. Quantity 

 
One (1) blade sign shall be permitted for each public entrance into an individual 
tenant/business space. However, for tenant spaces or buildings with a corner building 
entrance orientation, one (1) blade sign shall be permitted per building frontage. 

 
4.  Sign Design and Materials 

 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 7 
 
 
 

a. All blade signs located on an individual building shall be of a similar size and 
proportion. 

 
b. A blade sign shall not extend more than three (3) feet from the wall/ceiling to which it 

is attached. 
 

c. Blade signs shall be designed to relate to the architectural design of the building to 
which they are attached. 

 
d. Blade signs shall be constructed of wood, metal or similar materials, at the 

recommendation of the Architectural Review Board and approval by the Village 
Board. 

 
E. Marquee Signs  
 

Marquee signs shall be restricted to a position over the main entrance into a building. 
 

1. Location 
 

No marquee shall be erected in any residential district. 
 

2. Construction Materials Required 
 

All marquees, including the anchors, bolts, supports, rods and braces thereof, shall be 
constructed of incombustible or approved combustible materials, shall be designed by a 
structural engineer and shall be approved by the Department of Community and 
Economic Development as being in compliance with the Village Building Code. If 
appropriate, an electrical inspection shall be made to determine if the marquee is in 
compliance with all electrical provisions of this Code. 

 
a. Drainage: The roof of all marquees shall be properly guttered and connected by 

downspouts to a storm sewer or other drainage that is acceptable to the Department 
of Community and Economic Development so that the water therefrom will not flow 
onto public property. 

 
b. Roofs: The roofs of all marquees shall be used for no other purpose than to form and 

constitute a roof, and shall be constructed of incombustible materials. 
 

c. Erection, Bracing, Anchorage and Supports: Marquees shall be supported solely by 
the building to which they are attached, and no columns or posts shall be permitted 
as support therefore. 

 
d. Roof Live Load Requirements: The roof of any marquee shall be designed and 

constructed to support a live load of not less than forty (40) pounds per square foot. 
 

e. Anchorage to Wood Structure Prohibited: No marquee shall be erected on any 
building of wood frame construction. 

 
3. Height above Sidewalk 

 
No portion of a marquee shall be permitted to be less than ten (10) feet above the level of 
walkway over which it extends. 

 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 8 
 
 
 

a. Setback from Curb Line: No marquee shall be permitted to extend beyond the 
property line or over a street. 

 
b. Width: No marquee shall be wider than the entrance or entrances of the building, plus 

five (5) feet on each side thereof, unless approval is recommended from the 
Architectural Review Board and approved by the Village Board. 

 
4. Signs Attached to Marquees 

 
No temporary sign as defined elsewhere within this Title, shall be attached to, or hung 
from a marquee except changeable copy affixed or illuminated directly upon the vertical 
hanging fascias of the marquee. The Sign Face on any marquee shall be limited to fifty 
percent (50%) of the gross surface area of the vertical hanging fascias of the marquee. 

 
F. Vehicle Fueling Station Signs  

 
For vehicle fueling stations, regardless of which sign district each is located in, all signs must 
comply with the regulations contained in Paragraphs A (Ground Signs) or B (Wall Signs) above.  
In addition, the following permanent signs shall be permitted: 
 
1. Wall signs limited to those which identify the brand name or logo of the fueling station. 

 
2. Additional signage may be integrated into ground signs for the purpose of indicating the 

price of gasoline only, subject to the following criteria:  
 

a. Manual Changeable Copy Sign: The sign area of such signs shall not exceed twelve 
(12) square feet, in surface area.  

 
b. Electronic Message Sign: 

 
 
 

i. Shall consist of L.E.D. panels that, at a minimum, utilize Multi-Segment L.E.D. 
Technology (MST) digit configuration displays.   

 
ii. Not more than two (2) gasoline products shall be displayed per sign face. 

 
iii. Digits shall not exceed twelve (12) inches in height and are limited to three (3) digit 

numerical displays, not including a 9/10th fractional digit or decimal point. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Illustration of three digit numerical display for 
12-9-1-F-2-biii,  

 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 9 
 
 
 

iv. L.E.D. color shall be limited to one (1) color on black background and shall be the 
same color for each L.E.D. display used. 

 
v. The maximum brightness permitted shall not exceed 3,250 nits during the day and 

500 nits at night.  Additionally, each L.E.D. panel shall include a circuit board 
equipped with light sensors per side to automatically adjust L.E.D. brightness 
based on ambient light level. 

 
vi. Shall be turned off at the close of daily business operating hours, unless such 

vehicle fueling station operates 24 hours per day. 
 

vii. All electronic images must remain static.  No flashing, blinking, chasing, animations 
or other attention seeking effects shall be permitted. 

 
3. One (1) sign over each pump stand not to exceed eighteen (18) inches in height with 

length governed by the length of the pump structure itself. 
 

G. Directional Signs 
 

Directional signs accessory to parking and driveway areas are permitted subject to the 
following regulations: 
 
1. One (1) sign may be erected to designate each entrance to or exit from a parking or 

driveway area. One (1) additional directional sign is permitted for each intersection of 
drive aisles within a site, to identify traffic routing, entrances and services, such as drive-
in lanes. Each such sign shall not exceed three (3) square feet in area. Directional signs 
may be double-faced signs and placed no higher than four (4) feet above grade. 

 
2. Directional signs must identify use only by means of a logo, shape, or color with the 

exception of words such as ENTRANCE or EXIT. Directional signs may also identify 
walkways, parking lot entrances and exits, and features of a similar nature. 

 
3. When more than one (1) directional sign is located on a single site or unified 

development, each Directional Sign shall maintain a consistent sign design.  
 
4. Directional signs must be located entirely on the property to which they pertain and must 

be located so as not to interfere with the safe sight distances of vehicles traveling into, 
out of, or throughout the site. 

 
H. Menu Boards.  One (1) menu board is permitted for each restaurant drive-through aisle 

where patrons may order and receive food or beverages at a drive through service aisle, 
subject to the following conditions:   
 
1. Menu boards will be designed only as a monument sign or double post sign. 
2. Menu boards will only be located adjacent to, and the sign face must aim toward, the 

drive through service aisle. 
3. Each menu board will not exceed the following dimensions: forty (40) square feet in sign 

area, six (6) feet in height and twenty (20) feet from any lot line.  
4. Menu boards shall be landscaped at the base with evergreen plantings.  
5. Menu boards may use an electronic sign, provided it complies with the following 

standards: 
 

a. The menu board content may change only once per meal service (breakfast, lunch 
and dinner). 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 96/2310/19   Page 10 
 
 
 

 
b. Electronic signs shall be turned off when the drive-through service aisle is closed to 

patrons. 
 

c. Menu boards may not emit sound, except as part of the communication between the 
business and the patron. 

 
d. The content displayed on the electronic sign, and the transition between messages 

or images, will not use any flashing, blinking or intermittent lights or other means not 
providing constant illumination, including strobe lights, spotlights or floodlights. 

 
e. The content displayed on the electronic sign will use static images and will not use 

any animation. 
 

f. The brightness level of the electronic sign will be limited to no more than 1,500 nits 
during the day and no more than 500 nits at night, with the electronic sign equipped 
with a light sensor programmed to automatically adjust the brightness based on 
ambient light levels. 

 
g. The copy area shall have a black background with contrasting letters during nighttime 

display.   
 

h. Pursuant to Section 12-8-1(H)(3), each electronic message sign shall be counted as 
one item of information. The Village shall interpret and apply this rule so that the 
electronic message portion of the menu board shall count as one item of information 
only if all content of the electronic message pertains to the same subject matter at 
any one time. Electronic messages containing more than one subject matter at the 
same time shall be characterized as two items of information. 

 
 

 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 11/12/2018    Page 1 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 11 
 

PROHIBITED SIGNS 
 

 
SECTION: 
 
12-11-1 PROHIBITED SIGNS  

 
It is unlawful to erect or maintain any of the following signs: 

 
A. Signs which emit sounds including, but not limited to, voice, music, and similar methods of 

advertising. 
 

B.  Any sign which is wholly or partially illuminated by flashing, blinking, or intermittent lights or 
other means not providing constant illumination, including strobe lights, spotlights and 
floodlights. A sign whereon the time and/or temperature is indicated by intermittent lighting 
shall be deemed to be a flashing sign. 

 
C.  Moving signs. No sign or part of any sign shall move or give the illusion of movement in any 

manner. 
 

D.  Feather signs, bunting, pennants and items of a similar nature, not including those permitted 
in accordance with this Title.  

 
E.  Roof signs. 

 
F.  Signs of an obscene nature. 

 
G.  Signs which are not erected, placed or located by a governmental entity and that constitute a 

traffic hazard, including those signs that:  
 

1.  Obstruct free and clear vision at any street, intersection, parking lot entrance or exit, or 
driveway. 

 
2.  Interfere with, obstruct the view of, or may be confused with any authorized traffic sign, 

signal or device because of its position, shape or color, including signs illuminated in red, 
green or amber color to resemble a traffic signal. 

 
3. Make use of the words STOP, LOOK, DETOUR, DANGER or any other word, phrase, 

symbol or character in a manner that misleads, interferes with, or confuses traffic. 
 

H.  Signs which obstruct the use of driveways, doors, windows, fire escapes, or any such 
opening intended to provide access or egress for any building or structure. 

 
I.   Off-premise or billboard signs, except as permitted in Section 12-3-1 as part of a Master Sign 

Plan. 
 

J. Any goods, wares, or merchandise suspended from, the exterior of any building or structure. 
 

K. Ground signs, wall signs and directional signs erected in any residential district, except as 
defined in this Title.  

 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 03/13/2017    Page 2 
 
 
 

L. Internally illuminated cabinet style ground and wall signs in which each letter is not 
individually articulated. 

 
M. Signs on fences, trees, or utility poles, which are not required by State or Federal law. 
 
N. Signs consisting of a cluster or series of lights, except on such clocks and weather gauges as 

may be authorized by other sections of this Title. 
 
O. Home occupation signs. 

 
P. Pole type signs, temporary or permanent. 

 
Q. Attachments to any advertising structure or real estate sign. 
 
R. Signs composed of exposed neon tubing and, Electronic Display Screens, Electronic 

Message Signs and similar technologies, unless otherwise permitted by Section 12-9-1(H)(5), 
12-9-1(F)(2)(b) and similar technologies unless otherwise permitted by a or a Planned Unit 
Development or Master Sign Plan. 

 
S. Temporary wall signs. 
 
T. Window signs for office buildings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Northwest Municipal Conference Survey January 2019

1

Municipality

5. Do you allow digital
menu boards for
businesses with a drive-
through?

a. If so, please attach
relevant code
requirements.

Buffalo Grove Yes. See attached.
Grayslake No.

Lake Zurich Yes.

12-1-10 (H)
http://sterlingcodifiers.com/co
debook/index.php?book_id=3
73&chapter_id=100149#s118
3708

Libertyville

Yes, this has been 
differentiated internally from 
a digital (electronic) 
message board sign.

Morton Grove Yes.

Drive throughs are covered 
by special use permits, as 
such specific regulations are 
within each ordinance. 
Usually, digital boards all 
allowed to replace previously 
approved signs.

Schaumburg No.

Considering code 
amendment to permit when 
interior to lot.

Skokie Yes.
There is no specific ordinance 
section.

Streamwood Yes.
See Sections 11-10-23-2 F & 
G

Wheeling Yes.

https://library.municode.com/il
/wheeling/codes/code_of_ordi
nances?nodeId=TIT21SI_CH
21.06COINDI_21.06.500PESI

https://library.municode.com/il/wheeling/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT21SI_CH21.06COINDI_21.06.500PESI
https://library.municode.com/il/wheeling/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT21SI_CH21.06COINDI_21.06.500PESI
https://library.municode.com/il/wheeling/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT21SI_CH21.06COINDI_21.06.500PESI
https://library.municode.com/il/wheeling/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT21SI_CH21.06COINDI_21.06.500PESI
tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 4



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 

ORDINANCE NO. ________________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 12 (SIGNS) 
OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE CODE 

(Menu Boards) 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire, an Illinois home rule municipal corporation, 

has the authority to adopt ordinances and promulgate rules and regulations that pertain 

to its government and affairs, including the coordination and operation of various activities 

and structures within its boundaries, and to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of its citizens; and 

WHEREAS, the Village has express statutory authority to establish and enforce 

standards for the review of the design of buildings and structures, including signs, 65 

ILCS 5/11-13-1(12); and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board finds it necessary for the promotion and preservation 

of the public health, safety and welfare of the Village that the design, erection, 

construction, location and maintenance of all signs be regulated and controlled; 

WHEREAS, the Village has an important and substantial interest in ensuring the 

signs erected and displayed in the community are constructed well and maintained in 

good order to ensure the signs do not deteriorate and consequently have a negative 

impact on aesthetics and property values; and   

WHEREAS, Village Board finds that sign clutter makes the community less 

attractive for commerce and private investment, and dilutes and obscures messages 

being displayed in the village’s non-residential sign districts by creating visual confusion 

and aesthetic blight; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board desires to revise the regulation of signs by creating 

a menu board sign category and establishing regulations for such signs; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board referred to the Architectural Review Board (“ARB”) a 

petition to research, consider and prepare proposed text amendments to the Sign Code 

related to menu boards; and 

tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 5



WHEREAS, following due publication of notice in the October 1, 2019 Daily Herald, 

a public hearing concerning the proposed amendments to the regulation of menu board 

signs was convened by the ARB on October 17, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, following deliberation and consideration on the evidence and testimony 

elicited during the public hearings and the recommendation of the ARB, the Village Board 

desires for the Sign Code to be amended as proposed by Staff; and 

WHEREAS, the Village hereby finds that it is in the best interest of the Village and 

the public to amend its Sign Code to promote the highest and best use of the land in the 

Village and to achieve various other goals promoting the economic health and welfare of 

the Village. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the 

Village Of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule powers, as 

follows: 

SECTION ONE: The findings contained in the preambles to this Ordinance are 

found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance as though 

fully set forth herein.  The findings of the Architectural Review Board of the Village of 

Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, are herein incorporated by reference as the findings 

of this Board to the same effect as if fully recited herein at length.  All references in the 

ARB’s findings are made the references of the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village 

of Lincolnshire. 

SECTION TWO:  Title 12, Chapters 9 and 11 are hereby amended in the manner 

described in Group Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated as though fully recited 

herein.  The changes are shown as additions described with underlines and deletions 

described with strikeouts.  Language which is omitted from Group Exhibit A is not intended 

to be changed. 

SECTION THREE: If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion 

of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of 

competent jurisdiction, either facially or as applied, such portion shall be deemed a 

separate, distinct, and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity 

of the remaining portions hereof or any other application under which such provision is 

deemed permitted. 



 SECTION FOUR: All prior Ordinances in conflict or inconsistent herewith are 

hereby expressly repealed only to the extent of such conflict or inconsistency. 

 SECTION FIVE:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law. 

  

SO ORDAINED this _______ Day of ____________________, 2019, at 

Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois.  

 
AYES: 
 
NAYS: 
 
ABSENT: 

APPROVED: 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 

 
DATE:      

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 

 
 



GROUP EXHIBIT A 
 

TITLE 12 
 

CHAPTER 9 
CHAPTER 11 

 
 
 

[SEE ATTACHED] 
 



CHAPTER 9 
 

SIGN CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN: SPECIFIC STANDARDS BY SIGN TYPE 
 
 

SECTION: 
 
12-9-1 SIGN CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN: SPECIFIC STANDARDS BY SIGN TYPE 

 
The following signs are the only types of permanent signs permitted in the 

Village.  
 
A. Ground Signs 
 

Ground signs are permitted subject to the following:  
 

1.  Ground signs are permitted only in the districts listed in Tables 1 and 2, 
subject to the regulations of Tables 1 and 2 and this Title.  

 
2.  One (1) ground sign is permitted per street frontage of a zoning lot with a 

maximum of two (2) sign faces, except that any lot or parcel with a frontage 
of eight hundred (800) feet or more may have two (2) ground signs located 
not less than four hundred (400) feet apart. If a zoning lot has frontage on 
more than one (1) street then said lot will be allowed one (1) ground sign 
per frontage, provided there is sufficient frontage to place the two (2) signs 
no closer than one hundred (100) feet apart.  

 
3. In addition to a ground sign, drive-through establishments are permitted one 

(1) menu board sign, whether constructed as a ground sign or double post 
sign, no more than forty (40) square feet in sign area, no more than six (6) 
feet in height and no less than twenty (20) feet from any lot line. 

 
34.  Ground signs must be setback a minimum distance from the edge of 

the street, as shown in Table 1: Ground Signs – Monument and Table 2: 
Ground Signs – Double Post. All signs must be located entirely on private 
property. No part of any ground sign may be located within or over a street. 

 
4. All ground signs shall be approved by the Department of Community and 

Economic Development as being in compliance with Title 5, Chapter 4 of 
the Village Code and shall be constructed of incombustible or approved 
combustible materials as defined in Section 12-3-1 Definitions.  
 

5. Ground signs may be illuminated by backlit/reverse channel or channel 
lighting or by external lighting fixtures such as goosenecks and flood lights, 
with lighting color restricted to shades of white. Internally illuminated ground 



signs shall be designed so light is filtered through the face of individually cut 
letter sets.   
 

6. The sign structure and sign face of ground signs shall exhibit good scale 
and proportion; and shall be an integral part of the site and building design 
by sharing architectural features with the principal structure, including one 
or more building materials, colors, or design elements.  
 
 

7. The sign material of ground signs shall consist of materials such as wood, 
stone, brick, copper, bronze, steel, brushed aluminum, iron, concrete, or 
similar. Synthetic plaster shall be permitted if it is used as a primary exterior 
material on the approved principal structure. 
 

8. Letters and logo(s) are limited to no more than two (2) colors and must be 
individually carved, etched, or raised and may consist of plastic, wood, or 
metal letters, with a non-reflective surface, on a contrasting background.  
Multiple colors used on a logo or mark registered with the United States 
Patent and Trademark Office are permitted.  Consistency must be provided 
between ground sign lettering and the accompanying wall signs on the 
building. 
 

9. Ground signs for multi-tenant buildings shall exhibit the same design 
characteristics; including materials, color, fonts, lighting, tenant panels, etc, 
and shall be consistent in design where there are multiple ground signs on 
a single property. Ground signs for multi-tenant buildings are limited to four 
(4) tenants per sign face and a development name. The development name 
must be larger than the name of individual tenants. In addition, the 
development name may be distinguished from the individual tenants by font, 
color or material.  
 

10. The Copy Area shall be a minimum of 2 inches (2”) from the perimeter of 
each Sign Face and shall not exceed a maximum of seventy percent (70%) 
of the Sign Area. 

 
 

TABLE 1 
GROUND SIGNS – MONUMENT 

SIGN DISTRICT Maximum 
Sign Area 

Maximum 
Height of 

Monument 

Maximum 
Length of 
Monument 

Minimum 
Setback 

Commercial 
Sign District 
- Single Tenant 

60 sq. ft. 6 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 

Commercial 
Sign District 75 sq. ft. 7.5 ft.  10 ft. 15 ft. 



- Multi Tenant 
Office/Industrial 
Sign District 72 sq. ft. 6 ft. 12 ft. 15 ft. 

Residential Sign 
District 30 sq. ft. 5 ft. 6 ft. 15 ft. 

 
 

TABLE 2 
GROUND SIGNS – DOUBLE POST 

SIGN DISTRICT 
Maximum 

Sign 
Area 

Maximum 
Structure 

Area 

Maximum 
Structure 

Height 

Maximum 
Structure 

Length 
Minimum 
Setback 

Commercial 
Sign District 30 sq. ft. 72 sq. ft. 6 ft. 12 ft.  15 ft. 

Office/Industrial 
Sign District 30 sq. ft. 72 sq. ft. 6 ft. 12 ft.  15 ft. 

Residential 
Sign District 20 sq. ft. 44 sq. ft. 5.5 ft. 8 ft.  15 ft. 

 
 

*  *  * 
 

Language which is omitted is not intended to be changed. 

 
*  *  * 

 
 

H. Menu Boards.  One (1) menu board is permitted for each restaurant drive-
through aisle where patrons may order and receive food or beverages at a drive 
through service aisle, subject to the following conditions:   
 
1. Menu boards will be designed only as a monument sign or double post sign. 
2. Menu boards will only be located adjacent to, and the sign face must aim 

toward, the drive through service aisle. 
3. Each menu board will not exceed the following dimensions: forty (40) 

square feet in sign area, six (6) feet in height and twenty (20) feet from any 
lot line.  

4. Menu boards shall be landscaped at the base with evergreen plantings.  
5. Menu boards may use an electronic sign, provided it complies with the 

following standards: 
 

a. The menu board content may change only once per meal service 
(breakfast, lunch and dinner). 
 

b. Electronic signs shall be turned off when the drive-through service aisle 
is closed to patrons. 



 
c. Menu boards may not emit sound, except as part of the communication 

between the business and the patron. 
 

d. The content displayed on the electronic sign, and the transition between 
messages or images, will not use any flashing, blinking or intermittent 
lights or other means not providing constant illumination, including 
strobe lights, spotlights or floodlights. 

 
e. The content displayed on the electronic sign will use static images and 

will not use any animation. 
 

f. The brightness level of the electronic sign will be limited to no more than 
1,500 nits during the day and no more than 500 nits at night, with the 
electronic sign equipped with a light sensor programmed to 
automatically adjust the brightness based on ambient light levels. 

 
g. The copy area shall have a black background with contrasting letters 

during nighttime display.   
 

h. Pursuant to Section 12-8-1(H)(3), each electronic message sign shall be 
counted as one item of information. The Village shall interpret and apply 
this rule so that the electronic message portion of the menu board shall 
count as one item of information only if all content of the electronic 
message pertains to the same subject matter at any one time. Electronic 
messages containing more than one subject matter at the same time 
shall be characterized as two items of information. 

 
  



 
CHAPTER 11 

 
PROHIBITED SIGNS 

 
 
SECTION: 
 
12-11-1 PROHIBITED SIGNS  

 
It is unlawful to erect or maintain any of the following signs: 

 
*  *  * 

 
Language which is omitted is not intended to be changed. 

 
*  *  * 

 
R. Signs composed of exposed neon tubing and, Electronic Display Screens, 

Electronic Message Signs, and similar technologies, unless otherwise 
permitted by Section 12-9-1(H)(5), 12-9-1(F)(2)(b) or a Planned Unit 
Development or Master Sign Plan. 

 
 




	PACKET.pdf
	Code.pdf
	A. To provide specific regulations for the placement, construction and modification of alternative energy collection systems.  The provisions of this Chapter shall not be applied in such a manner as to unreasonably discriminate between the various dif...
	B. To facilitate energy cost saving and economic opportunities for local residents and businesses.
	C. To promote the supply of alternative energy in support of increasing sustainable energy production from renewable energy sources.
	D. To establish reasonable and uniform regulations for the operation, location, maintenance, installation, and decommissioning of alternative energy collection systems to minimize their potentially adverse effects on the community.
	E. To preserve the aesthetics of the respective zoning districts for the purpose of preserving property values and protecting the public health, safety, morals, and welfare of the Village.
	A. GENERAL: A Micro Wind Energy Collection System (MWES) and Small Wind Energy System (SWES), as referenced in Section 6-17-2, may be erected or installed only in accordance with this Title 6, Chapter 17 of the Village Code and conform to all Federal ...
	1. Shall be installed primarily for the production and consumption of energy on the parcel upon which it is installed; energy produced in excess of consumption may be sold back to the electric utility service provider that serves the proposed site for...
	2. Shall be finished in a non-reflective color to prevent Sun Reflection.  The exterior color shall be camouflaged so as to blend into the surroundings to such an extent to be unobtrusive to the casual observer.
	3. Shall not have any advertisement material, writing, picture, or signage other than warning notification(s) and/or equipment identification.
	4. All wiring between a Wind Turbine and the principal structure shall be underground or contained within conduit which matches the principal building materials and shall conform to Title 5, Chapter 4 of the Village Code.
	5. No habitable portion of an existing adjacent structure shall be subject to Shadow Flicker from a Wind Turbine, unless mitigation has taken place and has been agreed upon by the owner/operator and neighboring property owner(s).  Shadow Flicker onto ...
	6. No portion of an Alternative Energy Collection System shall be artificially illuminated except to the extent required by the FAA or other applicable authority.
	7. Any Free-Standing Alternative Energy Collection System shall be protected against unauthorized access by the public and no climbing foot pegs or rungs shall be permitted below twelve feet (12() to prevent unauthorized climbing.
	8. Shall conform to applicable industry standards, including those of the American National Standards Institute (ANSI).  Applicants shall submit certificates of design compliance that manufacturer(s have obtained from Underwriters Laboratories (UL), D...
	9. Shall be equipped with manual and/or automatic controls and mechanical brakes to limit rotation of blades to a speed below the manufacturers designed limits.  A licensed professional engineer or authorized factory representative must certify that t...

	B. PERMITS: No such Micro Wind Energy Collection System (MWES) and Small Wind Energy System (SWES), as referenced in Section 6-17-2, shall be erected, constructed, altered or relocated without first obtaining a building permit from the Department of C...
	1. Name of person, firm, corporation or association constructing and erecting the wind energy system.
	2. Site plan showing the location of the wind energy system upon the lot and copies of the manufacturer(s specifications for the wind energy system.
	3. Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant, and the name of a responsible party in the case of corporate applications.
	4. Written consent of the owner of the building structure or land on which the wind energy system is to be erected.
	5. Elevation(s) of the existing structural improvements and the proposed wind energy system showing the size and design details of the Wind Turbine and the Total Extended Height above grade.
	6. Evidence that the electric utility service provider that serves the proposed site has been notified of the owner(s intent to install an interconnected customer-owned electricity generator.  Off-grid wind energy systems shall be exempt from this req...
	7. Four (4) sets of plans and specifications showing the method of construction, location, support, and attachment to the ground or structure.
	8. If required by the Department of Community Development, a copy of stress sheets and calculations prepared by a professional engineer licensed by the State of Illinois showing that the wind energy system is designed for the deadload and wind pressur...
	9. A line drawing of the electrical components, as supplied by the manufacturer, in sufficient detail to allow for a determination that the manner of installation conforms to the Village Code.
	10. Such other information that the Department of Community Development shall require to show full compliance with this and all other ordinances of the Village.
	11. Every wind energy system must be accompanied with a written certification of a professional engineer licensed by the State of Illinois that the structure upon which the facility is located is sufficient from a structural engineering standpoint to ...

	A. Sound levels shall not exceed forty-five decibels (45 dB(A)) as measured at a height of five feet (5() directly above the adjoining property lines during operation.
	B. BUILDING-MOUNTED MWES:
	1. Shall be permitted in the R1, R2, R2A, R3, R4, and R5 Zoning Districts and limited to one (1) Vertical Axis Turbine or one (1) Horizontal Axis Turbine with a maximum Rotor Diameter of ten feet (10().

	a. The Wind Turbine shall be permitted to extend a maximum of five feet (5() above the principal structure.
	a. The Wind Turbine shall be permitted to extend a maximum of twenty feet (20() above the principal structure, or the maximum structure height permitted by the zoning district in which the facility is located, whichever is less.
	b. May be mounted onto the roof or structurally attached to the side of the principal structure, and shall not extend into the required building setbacks.

	1. At no point shall a free-standing SWES be permitted within the front yard or project beyond the front plane of the principal structure.
	2. A SWES may be attached to an existing principal structure, provided all minimum yard requirements applicable to the principal structure are also satisfied for the SWES.
	3. The base of the tower of a free-standing SWES shall be located a minimum distance equal to the Total Extended Height of the SWES from all side, corner side, and rear property lines.  A SWES may be allowed closer to a side or rear property line than...
	4. At no point shall a SWES be located within any required yards.
	5. Any SWES which abuts a residence shall be located a minimum distance equal to one hundred and ten percent (110%) of its Total Extended Height, as measured from the base of the tower to the nearest abutting residence property line.
	6. Any SWES shall be located a minimum distance equal to the Total Extended Height from the nearest above ground public utility lines and/or Personal Wireless Telecommunications Facility, as measured from the base of each.
	1. The Wind Turbine shall be permitted to extend a maximum of twenty feet (20() above the principal structure, or shall be subject to the maximum structure height permitted by the zoning district in which the facility is located, whichever is less.

	1. The lowest point of the arc of the blade of a SWES shall have a minimum ground clearance of twenty feet (20() from grade.
	2. Height Exceptions: If an Applicant desires a height exception greater than the maximum permitted height for the zoning district in which the SWES is located, the Applicant shall file a Certificate of Necessity executed by a licensed professional en...
	3. Compliance Reports: Any SWES for which a height exception is necessary that exceeds the maximum building height permitted for the zoning district in which a SWES is located must submit the following compliance reports contemporaneously with the hol...
	a. The Applicant shall file a certificate of compliance that no portion of a SWES will project above any airspace surfaces described by the FAA guidance on airspace protection or that it shall be permitted and illuminated in accordance with applicable...
	b. A wildlife study shall be conducted by a qualified professional not in the employ of the Applicant, such as an ornithologist or wildlife biologist, to determine if there is any potential impact the SWES may present to migratory birds and wildlife s...
	1. Shall be permitted in the R1, R2, R2A, and R3 Zoning Districts.  Any attached single-family residential development and mixed-use development which contains residential housing units shall require review by the Architectural Review Board prior to b...
	2. Shall be permitted in the R4, R5, R6, B1, B2, E, and O/I Zoning Districts, subject to review by the Architectural Review Board prior to being approved or denied by the Village Board.
	1. Name of person, firm, corporation or association constructing and erecting the solar energy system.
	2. Site plan showing the location of the solar energy system upon the lot and copies of the manufacturer(s specification for the solar energy system.
	3. Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant, and the name of a responsible party in the case of corporate applications.
	4. Written consent of the owner of the building structure or land on which the solar energy system is to be erected.
	5. Elevation(s) of the existing structural improvements and the proposed solar energy system showing the size and design details.
	6. Four (4) sets of plans and specifications showing the method of construction, location, support, and attachment to the structure.
	7. If required by the Department of Community Development, a copy of stress sheets and calculations prepared by a licensed professional engineer showing that the solar energy system is designed for the deadload, in the amount required by the manufactu...
	8. A line drawing of the electrical components, as supplied by the manufacturer, in sufficient detail to allow for a determination that the manner of installation conforms to the Village Code.
	9. Such other information that the Department of Community Development shall require to show full compliance with this and all other ordinances of the Village.


	1. Shall be limited to roof-mounted installations on a permitted structure, provided that the installation method shall be compatible and harmonious with the aesthetic qualities of the structure to which the device is attached so as to not abruptly al...
	a. Shall be attached directly to the exterior of the roof structure to ensure the lowest profile permissible.  All components of the SES shall not extend above the maximum building height permitted by the zoning district and beyond the existing limits...

	c. No component of the SES, including mounting racks, shall be permitted to tilt or rotate at a slope greater or less than the roof to which the device is attached.
	d. Shall be designed and installed to prohibit Sun Reflection towards vehicular traffic and any habitable portion of an adjacent structure.  Sun Reflection onto an adjacent roof shall be acceptable.
	e. Shall occupy not more than fifty-percent (50%) of the outside roof area to which the device is attached.  If an SES is installed on multiple roofs on a single structure, the SES shall occupy not more than thirty-percent (30%) of each outside roof a...
	f. With the exception of Solar Panels, mounting racks, pipe runs, and electrical wire connections, no portion of an SES shall be installed on the outside of the roof.
	g. No trees or vegetation shall be removed or pruned to reduce or eliminate shading from the sun, unless warranted for good forestry practices, as determined by the Village Forester.
	1. Prior to receiving a Special Use Permit for the installation of a SWES, the owner and/or operator must include a Decommissioning and Restoration Plan with the application request to ensure such Alternative Energy Collection System and all related e...
	a. Provisions for removal of the SWES and all related equipment, including those below the soil surface.
	b. Provisions for the restoration of the property and improvements upon completion of the decommissioning of the Alternative Energy Collection System and all related equipment.
	c. An estimated cost of decommissioning certified by a licensed professional engineer and the financial resources to be used to accomplish decommissioning.
	d. The Village is granted the right of entry onto the site, pursuant to reasonable notice and, upon request, a prompt due process hearing, to effect or complete decommissioning and/or restoration.

	2. All SWES which remain erected more than nine (9) months after the end of the Special Use permit period, if any, the useful life of the facility, or the facility is abandoned or otherwise out of operation shall be deemed a nuisance.
	3. Lien on Costs of Removal

	a. If the Village incurs any costs to enforce or perform the Applicant(s Decommissioning and Restoration Plan, then that cost is a lien upon that underlying parcel.
	b. To perfect a lien under this section, the Village must, within one year after the cost is incurred, file notice of lien in the Office of the Lake County Recorder. The notice must consist of a sworn statement setting out:
	c. The removal cost is not a lien on the underlying parcel unless a notice is personally served on, or sent by certified mail, to the Applicant and the person to whom received the tax bill for the general taxes on the property for the taxable year imm...
	d. A lien under this section may be enforced by proceedings to foreclose as in case of mortgages or mechanics' liens. An action to foreclose a lien under this section must be commenced within 2 years after the date of filing notice of lien.
	e. A failure to file a foreclosure action does not, in any way, affect the validity of the lien against the underlying parcel.
	f. Upon payment of the lien cost by the Applicant or owner of the underlying parcel after notice of lien has been filed, the Village shall release the lien, and the release may be filed of record by the owner at his or her sole expense as in the case ...


	PACKET.pdf
	RAVINIA HEATING & PLUMBING REV 10-4-19.pdf
	Page 1


	PACKET.pdf
	ADP9F52.tmp
	C.  Awnings and Canopies
	D.  Blade Signs

	NWC_Survey_MenuBoards.pdf
	survey



	One Olde Half Day Road: 
	One Olde Half Day Road_2: 
	One Olde Half Day Road_3: 
	One Olde Half Day Road_4: 
	446 Parkway Drive: 
	Mike Jesse Building Official: 
	Architectural Review Board: 
	hlap aeaba oo Octitber 720111: 
	undefined: 
	riiao eritlif1J iif: 
	IN LAKE COUNTY ILLINOIS: 
	AS DOCUMENT: 
	Building: 
	Building sf: 
	Solar sf: 
	Percentage: 
	undefined_2: 
	AICl7llWIIIRow1: 
	1Row1: 
	Row1: 
	undefined_3: 
	undefined_4: 
	Row1_2: 
	undefined_5: 
	undefined_6: 
	undefined_7: 
	T11Row1: 
	Row1_3: 
	fill_32: 
	fill_33: 
	ldlRow1: 
	IIRow1: 
	1: 
	1Row1_2: 
	IOt171IOII: 
	IOt171IOII_2: 
	 a Strul: 
	undefined_8: 
	undefined_9: 
	Row1_4: 
	Row1_5: 
	undefined_10: 
	Row2: 
	Row3: 
	Row3_2: 
	Row4: 
	Row4_2: 
	Row5: 
	Row5_2: 
	Row6: 
	Row6_2: 
	Row7: 
	Row7_2: 
	undefined_11: 
	Row1_6: 
	Row2_2: 
	Row2_3: 
	Row3_3: 
	Row3_4: 
	Row4_3: 
	undefined_12: 
	E I: 
	undefined_13: 
	w: 
	Row1_7: 
	fill_31: 
	Row2_4: 
	c: 
	c_2: 
	c_3: 
	c_4: 
	11 1: 
	Row1_8: 
	Row1_9: 
	SITERow1: 
	PIIOJICTSPKnA110HS: 
	undefined_14: 
	Row2_5: 
	Row3_5: 
	111: 
	iRow1: 
	Row1_10: 
	undefined_15: 
	b V: 
	WJ: 
	undefined_16: 
	fill_46: 
	J: 
	t: 
	I: 
	undefined_17: 
	undefined_18: 
	7 l 1 1: 
	undefined_19: 
	fill_4: 
	Row2_6: 
	Row2_7: 
	Row2_8: 
	Row2_9: 
	Row2_10: 
	Row2_11: 
	Row2_12: 
	l l: 
	Tll01Row1: 
	mRow1: 
	11: 
	111  IDIJRow1: 
	IIRow1_2: 
	uc: 
	1n1neu: 
	2 s Sino: 
	DRAWIHOMO: 
	I_2: 
	Row1_11: 
	Row1_12: 
	Row1_13: 
	Row2_13: 
	Row2_14: 
	Row2_15: 
	Row3_6: 
	undefined_20: 
	Row3_7: 
	undefined_21: 
	undefined_22: 
	Row4_4: 
	Row5_3: 
	Row5_4: 
	1 hXt ur N: 
	undefined_23: 
	77ZlVllC: 
	SoflePM61: 
	11WOO: 
	undefined_24: 
	S767kYCC: 
	ANCHOR TO BX CONNECTION DETAILS: 
	undefined_25: 
	undefined_26: 
	MODULE FRAME: 
	undefined_27: 
	4tt IRONRIDGE IAOHRIDCi E 0022H523 25357 INOUSTRIAL BLVD  HAYWARD CA 94545 wwwRnftideC0ffl: 
	undefined_28: 
	Location: 
	Location_2: 
	DRAWING INFO: 
	Installer: 
	lnstoller: 
	Moin Contact: 
	Dote  Time: 
	Email: 
	Email_2: 
	PreooredAooroved bv I: 
	Phone: 
	Phone_2: 
	undefined_29: 
	11 MODULE FRAME: 
	undefined_30: 
	Stone: 
	Prefin Metal Coping: 
	Sheet 9: 
	00: 
	Sheet 1 O: 
	undefined_31: 
	T Low Para et El 500: 
	Sheet 11: 
	undefined_32: 
	undefined_33: 
	undefined_34: 
	undefined_35: 
	undefined_36: 
	undefined_37: 
	undefined_38: 
	1_2: 
	undefined_39: 
	undefined_40: 
	undefined_41: 
	undefined_42: 
	undefined_43: 
	Row2_16: 
	Row1_14: 
	Row4_5: 
	undefined_44: 
	undefined_45: 
	Row5_5: 
	Row3_8: 
	Nominal Operatill Cell Tmperature NOcn: 
	Grounding: 
	Accessories: 
	Resources: 
	undefined_46: 
	engineered system in minutes: 
	Three Phase Inverter: 
	z: 
	Rated AC Power Output: 
	Maximum AC Power Output: 
	AC Output Line Connections: 
	VA4wire WYE L H2L3N plus PE or 3 wire Delta: 
	AC Frequency MinNornMax: 
	A: 
	GFDI Threshold: 
	AYes: 
	Transformerless Ungrounded: 
	wYes: 
	Maximum Input Voltage DC to Gnd: 
	Maximum Input Voltage DC to DC: 
	Nominal Input Voltage DC to Gnd: 
	Nominal Input Voltage DC to DC: 
	Maximum Input Current: 
	Maximum Input Short Circuit Current: 
	ReversePolarity Protection: 
	AdeYes: 
	GroundFault Isolation Detection: 
	Ade350k0 Sensitivity per Unit: 
	CEC Weighted Efficiency: 
	Nighttime Power Consumption: 
	Supported Communication Interfaces: 
	Rapid Shutdown: 
	RS48S Surge Protection: 
	Safety: 
	Grid Connection Standards: 
	Emissions: 
	Number of units: 
	3: 
	2  40  4: 
	2 x 125  614  9 strings: 
	Dimensions H x W x D: 
	Weight: 
	Operating Temperature Range: 
	Cooling: 
	F  CFan user replaceable: 
	Noise: 
	Protection Rating: 
	dBANEMA3R: 
	Mounting: 
	dBABracket provided: 
	Power Optimizer: 
	Rated Input DC Power: 
	Connection Method: 
	wDual input for independently connected modules: 
	Voe at lowest temperature: 
	Maximum Short Circuit Current per input lsc: 
	Weighted Efficiency: 
	Overvoltage Category: 
	II: 
	Photovoltaic Rapid Shutdown System: 
	Safety_2: 
	Material: 
	RoHS: 
	INSTALLATION SPECIFICATIONS: 
	Three phase inverters: 
	Maximum Allowed System Voltage: 
	Weight_2: 
	Input Connector: 
	gr I lbMC4l: 
	Input Wire Length1: 
	mft 016  052  16  524: 
	Output Wire Type Connector: 
	mftDouble Insulated MC4: 
	Output Wire Length: 
	Operating Temperature Rangem: 
	Protection Rating_2: 
	c FIP68  NEMA6P: 
	Relative Humidity: 
	Minimum String Length: 
	16 27: 
	30: 
	PV Modules: 
	60: 
	wYes_2: 
	Solar Panel Size and Design Details: 
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE: 
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE_2: 
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE_3: 
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE_4: 
	FILE 36125675: 
	Filing Fee 3000 Approved JXR: 
	1 Corporate Name RAVINIA PLUMBING  HEATING COMPANY INC: 
	2 State of Incorporation ILLINOIS: 
	RAVINIA PLUMBING SEWER HEATING  ELECTRIC: 
	RAVINIA PLUMBING  HEATING COMPANY INC: 
	Action Requested: 
	Public Hearing regarding an Amendment to Title 12 Sign Control: 
	Petitioner: 
	Keyser IndustriesMcDonalds Restaurant  450 Milwaukee Avenue: 
	Originated ByContact: 
	Tonya Zozulya Planning  Development Manager: 
	Referred To: 
	Architectural Review Board_2: 
	Commerc: 
	O: 
	Res: 
	o: 
	No other site or building changes are proposed: 
	Proposed Digital Menu Boards: 
	Difference between left and right is 100 vs 76: 
	This is 60  aprox 1S00nits: 
	LRow1: 
	 Row1: 
	II ALL STEEL SHALL BE II: 
	410: 
	I_3: 
	41 58: 
	T: 
	56Row1: 
	undefined_47: 
	TRow1: 
	L: 
	undefined_48: 
	Row1_15: 
	I_4: 
	undefined_49: 
	undefined_50: 
	THIS IS THE MIN 500 NITS AND MAX 1500 NITS THAT DEERFIELD ARC SETTLED ON DURING THEIR FIELD TRIP TO THE WHEELING STORE: 
	VILLAGE OF BANNOCKBURN: 
	Total Sien Area: 
	Sign Heieht 41: 
	Total SIJn HeJht: 
	undefined_51: 
	undefined_52: 
	Total Sign Area: 
	I Siin Height 41: 
	Total Sign Height: 
	undefined_53: 
	 c feriol View SCAI NT: 
	By: 
	Its: 
	By_2: 
	Its_2: 
	By_3: 
	Its_3: 
	By_4: 
	Its_4: 
	TO Chairman and Appearance Commissioners FROM Community Development Department CASE MANAGER Michelle House Senior Planner SUBJECT Certificate of Appropriateness ACTION REQUESTED Staff requests a final determination on the proposal APPLICANT Keyser Industries 10200 S Kedzie Avenue Evergreen Park IL 60805 Tel 708 8761249 CONTACT Michelle Freeman 10200 S Kedzie Avenue Evergreen Park IL 60805 Tel 708 9104895: 
	Letter Colors: 
	Varies: 
	Varies_2: 
	LED: 
	LED_2: 
	Technical Review: 
	PROJECT TIMELINE  OUTREACH: 
	Regulatory Review: 
	RequiredRow1: 
	A Annexation: 
	RequiredRow2: 
	B Annexation with Annexation Agreement: 
	RequiredRow3: 
	C Comprehensive Plan Amendment: 
	RequiredRow4: 
	D Official Map Amendment: 
	RequiredRow5: 
	E Rezoning: 
	RequiredRow6: 
	F Planned Development: 
	RequiredRow7: 
	G Conditional Use: 
	RequiredRow8: 
	H Final Site Plan Review: 
	RequiredRow9: 
	I Second Curb Cut: 
	RequiredRow10: 
	J Subdivision Preliminary Final and Waivers: 
	RequiredRow11: 
	K Variations   Zoning Board of Appeals: 
	fill_16: 
	M Final Engineering Approval  Outside Agency Permits: 
	N Building Permits: 
	O Building  Engineering Inspections: 
	fill_17: 
	fill_18: 
	Q Business License: 
	fill_19: 
	R Certificate of Occupancy: 
	Attachments  Exhibits: 
	Village of Lincolnshire: 
	Title 12 Sign Control: 
	SIGN DISTRICT: 
	72 sq ft: 
	6 ft: 
	12 ft: 
	15 ft: 
	30 sq ft: 
	5 ft: 
	6 ft_2: 
	15 ft_2: 
	30 sq ft_2: 
	72 sq ft_2: 
	6 ft_3: 
	12 ft_2: 
	15 ft_3: 
	30 sq ft_3: 
	72 sq ft_3: 
	6 ft_4: 
	12 ft_3: 
	15 ft_4: 
	20 sq ft: 
	44 sq ft: 
	55 ft: 
	8 ft: 
	15 ft_5: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_2: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_2: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_3: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_3: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_4: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_4: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_5: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_5: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_6: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_6: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_7: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_7: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_8: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_8: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_9: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_9: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_10: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_10: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_11: 
	Title 12 Sign Control_11: 
	Yes: 
	Grayslake: 
	See attachedNo: 
	Lake Zurich: 
	Yes_2: 
	Libertyville: 
	12110 H httpsterlingcodifierscomco debookindexphpbookid3 73chapterid100149s118 3708Yes this has been differentiated internally from a digital electronic message board sign: 
	Yes_3: 
	No: 
	Skokie: 
	Yes_4: 
	Streamwood: 
	Yes_5: 
	Wheeling: 
	Yes_6: 
	ORDINANCE NO: 
	Lincolnshire Lake County Illinois: 
	undefined_54: 
	Elizabeth J Brandt Mayor: 
	DATE: 
	Barbara Mastandrea Village Clerk: 
	75 sq ft: 
	75 ft: 
	10 ft: 
	15 ft_6: 
	Multi Tenant: 
	72 sq ft_4: 
	6 ft_5: 
	12 ft_4: 
	15 ft_7: 
	30 sq ft_4: 
	5 ft_2: 
	6 ft_6: 
	15 ft_8: 
	30 sq ft_5: 
	72 sq ft_5: 
	6 ft_7: 
	12 ft_5: 
	15 ft_9: 
	30 sq ft_6: 
	72 sq ft_6: 
	6 ft_8: 
	12 ft_6: 
	15 ft_10: 
	20 sq ft_2: 
	44 sq ft_2: 
	55 ft_2: 
	8 ft_2: 
	15 ft_11: 
	Return to Top: 


